Civil Society and the Governance of Basic Education Mali Country Field Study October 25, 2007 By: Suzanne Cherry, Masters Candidate (lead author) & Karen Mundy, Associate Professor **Comparative and International Development Education Centre, OISE/UT** civilsocietyandeducation@gmail.com Country case studies and a cross-national comparative analysis are available on the project website: http://cide.oise.utoronto.ca/civil_society/

The research was sponsored by OISE-UT, the Canadian International Development Agency and the International Development Research Centre.

Executive Summary

Mali has rapidly introduced dramatic education sector reforms over the past 15 years. These include donor and NGO efforts to expand community schools, the widespread introduction of contract teachers, and the launch of a ten-year education sector program, PRODEC (*Programme Décennal de Développement de l'Education*). The Malian government has also progressively devolved the governance of education to sub-national authorities.

Overall, these reforms have expanded policy space for civil society. However, they have had contrasting implications for different civil society organizations (CSOs), which in turn has exacerbated divisions within civil society. Two key constellations of CSO actors have thus emerged, each facing different pressures to change the terms of their engagement in the education sector.

The first constellation of CSOs consists of national and international NGOs, often involved in complimentary service-provision. For these actors, the move to a sector program has brought donor shifts towards budget support, decreased donor-NGO interaction and less direct funding for NGO activities. At the same time, NGOs acknowledge greater opportunities for partnership with government, but a lack of communication and mutual understanding has hindered their relationship. While NGOs are actively involved in supporting the implementation of decentralization reforms and the sector program (PRODEC) more generally, they are also concerned about donor conditionalities and a lack of government accountability. Consequently, they have a strong sense that it is important for them to be active participants in national-level policy processes, but coordinating and collaborating amongst themselves remains a challenge. In contrast to our three other case countries, within Mali, INGOs and national NGOs have thus far been unable to sustain into the 2000s an effective umbrella platform specifically for interfacing with central government and donors on educational issues – despite their successful collaboration within this type of platform, in the 1990s.

By contrast to NGOs, the second constellation of Malian CSOs in education has remained critical of PRODEC. Teachers' unions and representatives for parents disagree with aspects of the government's policies relating to education decentralization – a centerpiece of PRODEC. Historically, these organizations have wielded considerable influence, through the threat of national strikes, or by mobilizing their well-organized constituencies. Although these actors felt that their interests were not listened to in the design process of PRODEC, they enjoy regular communication with the Malian government, who seeks to contain their opposition to PRODEC and to win them over to the larger reform program. These CSOs also acknowledge their need to work more effectively with other civil society actors, such as NGOs.

Government policies and officials primarily seem to see CSOs playing roles at the *sub-national and school levels*, ensuring that school-level actors are well-trained, mobilized and resourced to keep the system running smoothly and government policy on course. CSO efforts to play a policy role at decentralized levels are just emerging and are only weakly-linked to national-level policy processes. Thus, decentralization of governance seems to confuse rather than enhance CSO policy leverage, at this point in time.

Although civil society actors played a part in the initial design of PRODEC in the late 1990s, their capacity to play a *coordinated* policy role at the *national level* needs to be strengthened. Many Malian CSOs in education feel that they have not yet built a robust civil society coalition for 'Education for All' (EfA) – although since 2005-2006, they have made progress in bringing together diverse CSOs towards this end. The tendency of CSOs has been instead to contend for their specific interests and to bargain with government as individual organizations. Representatives from donors, government and even civil society feel that CSOs can only be effective at the national policy table once they organize more synergistically amongst themselves and demonstrate their ability to add value to policy dialogue. In our interviews, CSOs called for support to address these needs; some donors expressed their readiness to advocate and support the development of a greater policy voice for CSOs.

Working towards the goal of a more coordinated civil society at the national and sub-national levels – and reinforcing linkages between the two levels – will not be easy. It will require the building of bridges between two very different constellations of CSO actors, the establishment of a common platform, and building CSOs' capacities for advocacy, policy analysis and research. The recent interest Mali has shown in developing a plan to abolish schools fees may provide a new mobilizing frame for Malian civil society, in particular for the EfA coalition – as has been the case in Tanzania and Kenya. In addition, the promising example of recent CSO organizing around Mali's second PRSP, and of more-established EfA coalition-building in other countries, suggests that with support from government and the international community, a vital Malian coalition for civil society in education is achievable.

List of Acronyms

| ADEA | Association for the Development of Education in Africa | | | |
|----------------|---|--|--|--|
| AEEM | Association des Elèves et Étudiants du Mali, the national students' association | | | |
| AFD | Agence française de développement, French Development Agency | | | |
| APE | Association de parents d'élèves, parents' association | | | |
| CAFO | Coordination des Associations et ONGs féminines du Mali, a Malian coordinating | | | |
| | body for women's NGOs and associations | | | |
| CCA/ONG | Conseil de Concertation et d'Appui aux ONGs, a Malian coordinating body for | | | |
| | national and international NGOs | | | |
| CGS | Comité de gestion scolaire, school management committee | | | |
| CIA | Central Intelligence Agency | | | |
| CIDA | Canadian International Development Agency | | | |
| CNR-ENF | Centre National des Ressources de l'Education non-formelle, the MEN | | | |
| | department responsible for non-formal education (NFE) | | | |
| CNSC | Conseil National de la Société Civile, a civil society umbrella structure | | | |
| CS | Civil Society | | | |
| CSO | Civil Society Organization | | | |
| СТ | Collectivité Territoriale, elected, sub-national authorities | | | |
| EAP | Accord de Partenariat pour une Ecole apaisée et performante, an agreement for | | | |
| | peaceful and performing schools | | | |
| EfA | Education for All | | | |
| EU | European Union | | | |
| ERNWACA | Education Research Network for West and Central Africa (Réseau Ouest et | | | |
| | Centre Africain de Recherche en Education, or ROCARE in French) | | | |
| FAO | Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations | | | |
| FTI | Fast-track Initiative | | | |
| FECONG | Fédération des Collectifs d'ONG, an umbrella structure for NGO coordinating | | | |
| | bodies | | | |
| FENAPEEM | Fédération Nationale des Associations des Parents d'Elèves et Etudiants du Mali, | | | |
| ~~~ | the national-level federation representing Malian parents' associations (APEs) | | | |
| GER | Gross Enrollment Ratio | | | |
| GDP | Gross Domestic Product | | | |
| GPEdB | Groupe Pivot Education de Base | | | |
| GTZ | Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit, a German federally- | | | |
| HIDO | owned "international cooperation enterprise for sustainable development" ¹ | | | |
| HIPC | Heavily Indebted Poor Countries | | | |
| IDA IDDC | International Development Association (of the World Bank) | | | |
| IDRC | International Development Research Centre | | | |
| ILO | International Labour Organization | | | |
| IMF | International Monetary Fund | | | |
| INGO | International NGO | | | |

¹ This information is drawn from the GTZ website, retrieved June 19th, 2007 at: http://www.gtz.de/en/unternehmen/1698.htm

| ΙΟ | International Organization (multilateral organization) | | |
|----------|---|--|--|
| MATCL | Ministère de l'Administration Territoriale et des Collectivités Locales, Ministry | | |
| | of Territorial Administration and Local Communities | | |
| MEN | Ministry of National Education | | |
| MTEF | Medium-term expenditure framework | | |
| NFE | Non-formal education | | |
| NGO | Non-governmental organization | | |
| NNGO | National NGO | | |
| NORAD | Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation | | |
| ODA | Official development assistance | | |
| OECD | Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development | | |
| PDECOM | Programme de développement éducatif communal, a commune-level education | | |
| | development program | | |
| PDESEC | Programme de développement économique, social et culturel, a program for | | |
| | economic, social and cultural development, prepared by sub-national authorities | | |
| PISE | Programme d'investissement sectoriel de l'éducation, PRODEC's education | | |
| | sector investment program | | |
| PRODEC | Programme Décennal de Développement de l'Education, Mali's 10-year | | |
| | education sector program | | |
| PRSP | Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper | | |
| PTFs | Partenaires techniques et financiers, technical and financial partners (donors) | | |
| SECO/ONG | Secrétariat de Concertation des Organisations Non Gouvernementales maliennes, | | |
| | a Malian coordinating body for national NGOs | | |
| SWAp | Sector-wide approach | | |
| UK | United Kingdom | | |
| UNAIDS | Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS | | |
| UNDP | United Nations Development Program | | |
| UNESCO | United Nations Education, Scientific and Cultural Organization | | |
| UNICEF | United Nations Children's Fund | | |
| USA | United States of America | | |
| USAID | United States Agency for International Development | | |
| USD | United States' dollars | | |
| WFP | World Food Program | | |

Table of Contents

Executive Summary List of Acronyms

| 1. Introduction | 1 |
|---|----|
| 2. Research Design | |
| 3. The Malian Context | 3 |
| 3.1 Mali's political and economic context | 3 |
| 3.2 Civil society in Mali | 5 |
| 4. The Policy Landscape for Basic Education in Mali | 8 |
| 4.1 The education sector after the democratic revolution of 1991 | 8 |
| 4.2 Mali's education sector program, PRODEC | 10 |
| 4.3 Decentralization of Education | 11 |
| 5. Civil Society Actors in Mali's Education Sector | 12 |
| 5.1 Civil society organizations active in basic education | 12 |
| 5.2 Collaboration and coordination among CSOs in education | |
| 5.3 Strengths and weaknesses of CSO capacities in education | 17 |
| 6. Civil Society in the Design and Implementation of Mali's Education Sector Program. | 19 |
| 6.1 CSO participation in the design of PRODEC (1996-1999) | 20 |
| 6.2 Decentralized roles for CSOs under PRODEC: Ongoing debates | 22 |
| 6.3 Diminishing engagement in national policy processes? | 25 |
| 7. Current Relationships between Government and Civil Society Organizations | 27 |
| 8. Current Relationships between Donors and Civil Society Organizations | 30 |
| 9. Analysis and Conclusions | 32 |
| Bibliography | 35 |

Tables

| Table 1: Breakdown of Interview Data | 2 |
|--|----|
| Table 2: Mali Basic Statistics | 5 |
| Table 3: Mali Education Statistics | 9 |
| Table 4: Contrasting Malian perspectives on their participation in PRODEC design | 20 |

Boxes

| Box 1: Lessons from Groupe Pivot Education de Base | 1 | 6 |
|--|---|---|
|--|---|---|

1. Introduction

In Mali, where government and the international donor² community have set ambitious targets for the expansion of access to basic education, a diverse and dynamic constellation of civil society organizations is active in the education sector. Government and donor groups have encouraged civil society participation in education – both as complementary service-providers and (since the mid-1990s) in national policy-setting. However, there has been a rapid introduction of dramatic education sector reforms in the country over the past 15 years – including earlier donor and NGO efforts to expand community schools, government introduction of contract teachers in the 1990s, and the more recent legislation devolving educational governance to sub-national authorities. This has left civil society organizations (CSOs) with conflicting views on some of the basic components of the internationally-funded education sector program, *PRODEC*.³ Although civil society actors played a part in the initial design of PRODEC in the late 1990s, their capacity to play a coordinated policy role at the national level needs to be strengthened. CSO efforts to play a policy role at the newly-decentralized sub-national levels are just emerging and are only weakly linked to national-level policy processes.

This paper offers a case study of the policy roles being played by members of Malian civil society in the context of its recent education sector program, PRODEC. It draws from interviews conducted with a variety of civil society organizations (including teachers' unions, representatives for students and for parents, national and international NGOs, associations, coalitions, networks, religious organizations and schools, as well as a small number of school management committees).

This study also draws upon interviews with government officials and donor organizations and upon documentary and background literature. The research is part of a four-country study covering Burkina Faso, Kenya, Mali and Tanzania, funded by the Comparative, International and Development Education Centre at the University of Toronto, the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) and the International Development Research Centre (IDRC).

The paper begins with a description of Mali's political, economic, social and educational context. It then presents an overview of key civil society groups active in education, their changing relationships with one another, and their interactions with government and with donors around basic education policies and reform initiatives.

 $^{^2}$ In Mali, the term technical and financial partners (*partenaires techniques et financiers* or *PTFs*) is used instead of the term "donors". However, for consistency across the four case studies, this research team is using the term "donors" to refer to bilateral and multilateral agencies.

³ PRODEC stands for *Programme Décennal de Développement de l'Education*; it is a ten-year education development program.

2. Research design

Field research for this study was conducted in Mali from March-June 2006 by Suzanne Cherry, and was hosted by ERNWACA, the Education Research Network for West and Central Africa.⁴ Efforts were made to contact civil society organizations active in education, using a snowball sampling technique and a standard interview protocol.⁵ In total, 69 semi-structured interviews were conducted with 126 respondents, 40 of them women. Of these, 16 interviews were conducted with civil servants or government officials (3 at the commune level); 43 interviews with civil society organizations; and 10 interviews with bilateral and multilateral donor agencies. CSOs contacted included teachers' unions, representatives for students and for parents, national and international NGOs, associations, coalitions, networks and religious organizations. School management committees (*Comités de Gestion Scolaire*, or *CGS*), school principals and teachers were also interviewed, at both faith-based and community schools. All interviews were held in Bamako, Mali's capital, with the exception of 7 interviews (with 18 participants), conducted in two rural locations within Koulikoro region.

| Туре | # of Organizations | # of Participants | # Interviews |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-------------------|--------------|
| Networks | 5 | 20 | 5 |
| Local NGOs* | | 0 | 0 |
| National NGOs* | 19 | 20 | 10 |
| INGOs/Sub-regional | 10 | 11 | 9 |
| NGOs | | | |
| Constituency-based | 5 | 13 | 6 |
| organizations | | | |
| Faith-based | 4 | 5 | 4 |
| organizations | | | |
| Researchers | 1 | 2 | 2 |
| School Committees | 4 | 16 | 4 |
| Community Schools | 2 | 5 | 2 |
| Media | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| Technical and Financial | 9 | 12 (10,2) | 10 (8,2) |
| Partners (Donors & IOs) | | | |
| Government/Civil | | 21 | 16 |
| Servants | | | |
| TOTAL | 60 | 126 | 69 |

Table 1: Breakdown of Interview Data

*Note: In this table, local NGOs refers to Malian NGOs or community-based organizations, working in one region or small geographic area; National NGOs refers to Malian NGOs working in two or more regions and/or seeking to address national policy.

Data was analyzed by category of respondent, whether CSO, government official/civil servant or donor. Data from CSOs was then further broken down by *type of CSO* (whether teachers' union, NGO, school-level actor and so forth). Themes for analysis corresponded with the questions in the interview protocol, comparing answers between types of respondent (CSO versus government respondents; government versus donor respondents; and CSO versus donor

⁴ ERNWACA's publications were a major source of information on the Malian education system, and on Malian CSOs active in education, for the literature-review portion of this study.

⁵ This standard interview protocol is available on the project website: http://cide.oise.utoronto.ca/civil_society/

respondents). Additional themes considered included: how the decentralization of education is changing the context for CSO engagement and how the expansion of community schools influenced NGO participation in policy processes. In what follows, interviews are cited according to type of respondent: "C" is used to denote CSO; "G" to denote government or civil servant; "D" to denote donors (specifically bilateral donors); and "IO" to denote multilateral (donor) organizations.⁶

3. The Malian Context

3.1 Mali's political and economic context

Mali is a land-locked country of nearly 13.1 million people in West Africa. The country is home to Mande (Bambara, Malinke, Soninke), Peul, Voltaic, Songhai, Tuareg and Moor peoples, and 90% of its population is Muslim.⁷ Mali's peoples have played an important role in the history of the sub-region, in the great West African empires of Ghana, Mali and Songhai, successively, during the 8th to 16th centuries. Cities such as Timbuktu, Djenné, Gao and Ségou have long been centres for the development of technology and culture. A UNESCO World Heritage site, Timbuktu is famous for its historic University of Sankoré, its great mosques and ancient libraries. For many centuries, Malians have developed a culture of democracy and conflict resolution (Pringle, 2006). Today, the country's diverse ethnic groups co-exist peacefully (Sandbrook, 1999; Smith, 2001), and tolerance, trust and pluralism are strong features of traditional Malian society (Smith, 2001).

Mali is generally regarded as a stable democracy, having made a successful transition to democracy after nearly twenty-five years of military dictatorship. The Moussa Traoré regime (1968 – 1991) was overthrown by a popular revolt in 1991, in which students and teachers played an important role (Danté, Gautier, Marouani & Raffinot, 2001). A transitional committee then handed over power peacefully following Mali's first multi-party elections in 1992, elections hailed as free and fair (Sandbrook, 1996; van den Walle, 2003). Mali's 1992 Third Republic, lead by President Alpha Konaré, quickly launched decentralization reforms widely noted for their genuine devolution of power (Glenzer, 2005; Seely, 2001). During its two mandates, the Konaré government was commended for establishing political and religious freedoms (Pringle 2006), respecting human rights (Danté et al., 2001), promoting press freedom (Danté et al., 2001; Pringle, 2006; Sandbrook, 1996) and encouraging greater popular participation in governance (Wing, 2002).⁸ The Amadou Toumani Touré government, elected in 2002 and re-elected in 2007, although less studied in the scholarly literature, is similarly regarded as committed to democracy and human rights (CIDA, n.d.; Dizolele, 2005). Mali has recently been called "one of the most successful democracies in Africa" (Pringle, 2006, p. 31) and along with Benin, "the

⁶ In some cases, the person interviewed represented more than one position. For example, CG means the person holds a position both in a CSO and in government.

⁷ This information is drawn from the CIA Factbook, retrieved April 24, 2007, from:

https://www.cia.gov/cia/publications/factbook/geos/ml.html#People

⁸ Despite these strengths, the Konaré government was also strongly criticized during the 1997 elections; these were described as only "partially fair" (van den Walle, 2003, p. 320), accused of irregularities, boycotted by the opposition and in the end, were said to have "produced virtually a one-party parliament" (Boukhari, 2000, p. 28).

only African francophone country to sustain and in many ways deepen its democracy since the early 1990's" (Glenzer, 2005, p. 2).

These achievements notwithstanding, research during the Konaré years asserted that Mali had yet to overcome "the patrimonial structure that is its political heritage" (Danté et al., 2001, p. 6), its legacy of "personalistic and clientelist politics" and problems of "debilitating splits and factional struggles" within its political parties, including the major parties (Sandbrook, 1996, pp. 77, 80). Under the present Touré government, there is no organized political opposition and the government rules based on consensus and collective decision-making (OECD, 2004). The quality of political debate under this arrangement is difficult to ascertain, although under the previous (Konaré) government, political opposition was considered weak (Danté et al., 2001). Corruption is also regarded as a widespread problem in Mali (Int. 62D; Dizolele, 2005; Pringle, 2006) although the government has been conducting a campaign against mismanagement (Dizolele, 2005).

Concerning its economy, 80% of Mali's labor force is currently in agriculture and fishing. With its exports focused upon cotton and gold, the Malian economy is vulnerable to fluctuations in world market prices and to climatic conditions. Poverty remains a major challenge. The Malian Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper (PRSP) states that "63.8% of the population live in poverty and 21% in extreme poverty. While poverty is mainly a rural phenomenon, it is increasing in the large towns as a result of the deteriorating labor market and migration" (Government of Mali, 2002, p. 1). Mali's 2004 illiteracy rate was 71.3% (OECD, 2004); infant mortality, 121/1000 (2005); and life expectancy, 48 years (2005).⁹ Mali's GDP per capita was 371 USD in 2004 (UNDP, 2006), and the country received an average of 9% of its GDP in official development assistance per year, between 2000 and 2004 (World Bank, 2003). Mali has been called a "donor darling" (World Bank FTI, n.d.). The country was granted US \$523 million debt relief over 30 years, under the Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) initiative in 2000 (CIDA, 2000, p. 2). Mali reached the HIPC completion point in 2003 and has become eligible for additional debt relief under the Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative (MDRI), intended to release additional resources for meeting the Millennium Development Goals (OECD, 2006).¹⁰

⁹ Quoted from the World Bank "Mali at a glance" webpage, retrieved March 26th, 2007 from: http://devdata.worldbank.org/AAG/mli_aag.pdf

¹⁰ This information was drawn from the World Bank and IMF websites, consulted on February 26th 2007, at: http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/NEWS/0,,contentMDK:20040942~menuPK:34480~pagePK:3437 0~theSitePK:4607,00.html, and http://www.imf.org/external/np/exr/facts/mdri.htm

| | 1990 | 2004 |
|--|-------------------------|-----------------------|
| GDP per capita | | 371 |
| ODA as % of GDP | 19.9 | 11.7 |
| Total debt service (as % of GDP) | 2.8 | 2.1 |
| % of population on less than \$2/day (1990-2004) | | 90.6 |
| Total population | | 13.1 million |
| Urban population (% of total) | For 1975 : 16.2% | 29.9% |
| Infant mortality rate (per 1,000 live births) | | For 2001 : 137 |
| | | (poorest 20%); |
| | | 90 (richest 20%) |
| HIV prevalence (% ages 15-49)* | | For 2005 : 1.7 |
| | | [1.3-2.1] |
| Children orphaned by AIDS* | | 94,000 [70,000 - |
| | | 120,000] |

Table 2: Mali Basic Statistics

Sources: UNDP (2006);

*UNAIDS (2006)

3.2 Civil Society in Mali

Mali offers conditions conducive to an active, engaged civil society. Blair (2000, p. 29) notes Mali's "rich tradition of associational life and strong interpersonal networks at the village level." Prior to the democratic revolution of 1991, civil society groups played a long-standing role of opposing the Traoré dictatorship and addressing deficiencies in public services (Floridi & Corella, 2004). Formal or "organized" civil society activity before 1991 included movements within the agriculture sector and amongst students and women (Floridi & Corella, 2004). NGOs were first involved implementing state and donor programs during the emergency responses to drought, in 1972-73 (Tounkara, 2001). With the shrinking of the state under structural adjustment policies in the 1980s, INGO activities continued to grow, and the number of national NGOs increased considerably in the late 1980s, supported by international funding.¹¹

However, it was the launch of multi-party democracy in 1991 that led to a great multiplication of CSOs of all types. At this time, students, unions, human rights' organizations and media joined forces to help overthrow Traoré, and developed a shared agenda for reform (Smith, 2001). Amongst their demands, civil society groups called for decentralization reforms (Boukary, 1999; USAID, 2002). Thus, six months after being elected, the Konaré government formed its Decentralization Mission, which held regional and local meetings to get citizens directly involved in the reorganization of local government units into new communes¹² (Blair, 2000; Seely, 2001). Decentralization reforms, on-going to this day, call for substantial NGO involvement in building the capacity of communities to assume their new responsibilities; as a means towards this end, donors have supported the development of partnerships between elected officials and CSOs (Glenzer, 2005).

¹¹ According to Glenzer (2005, p. 198), INGOs came to Mali at the rate of two per year between 1970 and 1980, then 3-6 per year between 1980-1983, then 26 in 1984 and 15 in 1985. By 1999, 114 INGOs were present in Mali. National NGOs, meanwhile, numbered 1 in 1978; 6 in 1983; 50 in 1986; 500 in 1991, and 600 by the late 1990's (Glenzer, 2005, p. 198).

¹²A commune is usually made up of several villages (Pringle, 2006) and has been likened to a municipality (World Bank, 2006). It is the lowest amongst the levels of decentralized government. The next levels up are the *cercle* and region.

Between 1988 and 2001, NGOs across the social sectors doubled in number in Mali (De Bruijn, Sidibé & Van Dijk, 2001). Throughout this period, many international donors provided substantial support to NGOs, so that by 1994, for example, 20% of USAID's budget went to NGOs, and NGOs were the country's single biggest employer (Glenzer, 2005). Today 1879 NGOs are officially registered, although it is difficult to assess how many are operational (Floridi & Corella, 2004). At least part of the reason for the multiplication of NGOs in Mali is the speed and ease of its official process for NGO registration; the government must complete an NGO's registration within three months of application or it becomes automatic (Miller-Grandvaux, Welmond & Wolf, 2002; Tounkara, 2001). By comparison, in countries such as Senegal or Niger, this can take three to four years (Tounkara, 2001). Mali also has fairly longstanding coordinating bodies for NGOs and associations, founded in the mid-late 1980s and early 1990s. The three best-known are CCA/ONG (1983) for national NGOs and INGOs; SECO/ONG (1989) for national NGOs only; and CAFO (1991) for women's NGOs and associations.

Village-level associations, always a strong feature of Malian society, have made considerable gains in infrastructure in the education, health and water sectors (Int. 24C; De Bruijn et al., 2001; Floridi & Corella, 2004). They proliferated in the 1990s and are numbered today at 12,000 formally registered organizations (Floridi & Corella, 2004). Similarly, one study estimates that 91% of women's NGOs and associations in existence at the present time were created during the 1990s (De Bruijn et al., 2001). Women's CSOs are credited with effectively influencing laws relating to discrimination against women, and remain key actors within civil society via grassroots-level associations and national coalitions such as CAFO (Int. 8C; 27C; 32C; 38IO).

The past two decades have also seen civil society within agriculture grow in dynamism and develop strong unions (Danté et al., 2001; De Bruijn et al., 2001; Floridi & Corella, 2004; Raffinot, Muguet & Alhousseynou, 2003), structuring effectively from the grassroots up to the national level and negotiating strongly with government, including around agricultural legislation (Int. 64C; Boukary 1999). Within the health sector, the widespread movement to implant community health centres and associations is unprecedented in sub-Saharan Africa (Int. 52C; Floridi & Corella, 2004; Raffinot et al., 2003).

Miller-Grandvaux et al. (2002, p. 4) comment that today, "Mali has a vibrant civil society with promising experiments in democratization," while Capacci Carneal (2004, p. 89) calls Malian civil society "diverse and dense." The effectiveness of civil society can be seen in the important role it has played in resolving several major social crises: the resolution of the Northern conflict involving the Touregs, the 1997 impasse between the presidential party and opposition groups and the resolution of frequent disturbances in the education system (Floridi & Corella, 2004).

At the same time, Malian civil society seems to be struggling to know its own strengths and weaknesses, to develop essential capacities, to understand its role within Mali's changing context, and to devise effective ways to collaborate internally. In our interviews, civil society was described as "embryonic," "fractured," "nebulous," "scattered," unstructured and lacking in organization (Int. 7C; 16C; 21CG; 27C; 34C; 38IO; 44C; 65C; Dembélé, Touré Traoré, Diallo & Sakho, 2002). Many women's CSOs, village-level associations and NGOs are considered to

have weak institutional capacity, or to lack transparent and democratic practices (De Bruijn et al., 2001; Floridi & Corella, 2004). In addition, numerous NGOs lack technical skills, because they were created by young graduates as a response to unemployment, rather than being created out of a clear vision or mandate (Int. 16C; 20C; 24C; 31C; 33C). In general, the degree to which CSOs effectively and democratically represent their constituencies is uncertain (Dembélé et al., 2002). As a potential contributing factor to this problem, the lines between the quest for power and the exercise of social responsibility are at times difficult to distinguish (Floridi & Corella, 2004). Sometimes CSOs are used by their leaders to launch into politics; or else, a CSO leader will occupy a role in both politics and civil society at the same time (Int. 19C; 24C; 31C; 37C; 70C).

Capturing these concerns, the Malian PRSP offered the following comment on the political context for civil society:

[...] the Malian democratic process is still fragile because of the absence of a democratic culture and citizenship, the absence of civic spirit and the pursuit of special favors. The fragmentation of civil society and its weak ability to mount a credible challenge to the established authority are also a manifestation of the democratic malaise. (Government of Mali, 2002, p. 23)

In addition, two CSOs and one government respondent in this study commented, respectively:

We don't know civil society very well as a whole; civil society doesn't know itself, its own strengths, or thinks it doesn't have strengths ... Civil society has not capitalized upon [...] its potential, in a concrete way. (Int. 16C)

We are trying to find ourselves, we're very heterogeneous and diverse, this is a strong point, but we don't speak the same language. (Int. 29C)

Civil society doesn't know itself, as a whole. Lots of individual actors don't know that they're in a wider movement. This is true in communes, regions, and more generally; there is a lack of coordination ... there may be coordination of activities in one locality, but it's not coordinated at a higher level [...] this has an impact on government. There is need for a harmonized voice. (Int. 4G)

In answer to these problems, there have been several recent efforts to build inclusive civil society coalitions in Mali, including the UNDP-funded *Platforme Nationale de la Société Civile* (2000) and more recently, the *Conseil National de la Société Civile* (2003) and the platform for national and regional NGO coordinating bodies, FECONG (2003) (Dembélé et al., 2002; Floridi & Corella, 2004). CSOs of all types have been organizing themselves very actively for participation in the second PRSP design process, supported by donors like the Netherlands and the INGO SNV (Int. 11C; 16C; 22C; 40C; 64C). CSOs regard this opportunity as particularly important, since they consider their participation within the *first* PRSP design process to have been inadequate (Int. 5C; 11C; 16C; 22C; 40C; 64C). At that time, NGOs were dissatisfied with the speed of the different stages, and opted to set up their own parallel consultative process, supported by USAID (Danté et al., 2001). When they did participate in government-organized

PRSP working groups, their presence did not equate with influence, and they took second place to government and donor representatives (Danté et al., 2001).

4. The Policy Landscape for Basic Education in Mali

4.1 The education sector after the democratic revolution of 1991

Article 18 of Mali's 1992 Constitution of the Third Republic declares that "every citizen has the right to instruction," and that public education is "obligatory, free and secular" [translated by the researcher] (République du Mali, 1992). However, translating right into reality proved a major challenge for Mali's first democratic government, due to economic difficulties and "democracy under construction" (CLIC, n.d.). From 1992 – 2002, there was great upheaval in the education system, with teachers' strikes, student boycotts, and even violence and vandalism by students, prompting their arrest and imprisonment (Boukary, 1999; République Française, 2003). For example, in 1993, students vandalized the Minister of National Education's house and set fire to the National Assembly (Diakité, 2000). Following further student strikes and demonstrations in Bamako in 1994, the government closed all schools in the country (République Française, 2003). Teachers' unions also went on strike that year, as did industrial workers, because of a currency devaluation of 50% (Smith, 2001). In 1996, another strike saw the arrest of 40 students, including the president of the national students' association (the AEEM); these students were released after a 12-day strike by their supporters (République Française, 2003). In 1997, students joined political opposition leaders in protesting the presidential election results. Students were later detained on charges of vandalism, arson, property damage and physical violence, amongst other charges (République Française, 2003).

Despite this turmoil, government and civil society groups have managed to achieve much greater stability in the education system over time. This is due in no small part to the efforts of civil society (Int. 27C; 38IO; Floridi & Corella, 2004; République Française, 2003). Key players in managing these crises have included parents' associations (*associations de parents d'élèves*), religious and traditional leaders, teachers' unions and key economic actors (Diakité, 2000). Various efforts were also made by government to engage in dialogue with citizens about these problems throughout the 1990s.

As another positive development, the education sector has made considerable progress in primary-level access since the early 1990s. The gross enrollment rate (GER) from the first cycle (the first six years) of primary education was increased from 26.5% in 1990 to 69% in 2004 (MEN Sec Gen, 2006c, p. 1). Tounkara (2001, p. 4) argues that this was the result of education policy firmly oriented towards multiplying the number of initiatives and actors in education. Education was "the priority of priorities" for the Alpha Konaré government (MEB/MESSRS, 2000, p. 7), and remains a high priority for the current Amadou Toumani Touré government.

| | 2000 | 2004 |
|--|-------|-------|
| Primary GER (%) | 52.8 | 63.8 |
| Secondary GER (%) | 15.0 | 22.3 |
| Tertiary GER (%) | 2.4* | 2.1 |
| Private Sector Enrollment Share – Primary | 21.9* | 34.8 |
| Gender Parity Index (GER in Primary and Secondary) | 0.7 | 0.7 |
| Primary completion rate (%) | | 44.0 |
| Progression to secondary level (%) | 51.5 | 59.7* |
| Teacher to Pupil Ratio – Primary | | 52.2 |
| Total education spending as % of GDP | 3.0* | n/a |

Table 3: Mali Education Statistics¹³

An important contributor to improved access to basic education in the 1990s was the widespread multiplication of "community schools" created and managed by communities, which increased in number from 176 in 1995 to 2344 in 2002, and represented 31.7% of primary schools in Mali by 1998-99 (Cissé, Diarra, Marchand & Traoré, 2000; CLIC, n.d.). External funding for community schools, typically delivered through NGOs, came from a wide range of donors: USAID, GTZ, Agence Française de Développement, French Municipalities and the World Bank, and from INGOs such as Save the Children USA, Save the Children UK, World Education, Africare, CARE and Plan International (Capacci Carneal, 2004; Cissé et al, 2000). USAID alone funded 1,658 community schools in 2001 – over 30% of the total number of primary schools in the country (Miller-Grandvaux & Yoder, 2002, p. A-6). These schools were also supported by Groupe Pivot Education de Base, an NGO consortium which was in its turn heavily funded by external donors (Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002). In 1994, after successful advocacy by donors, INGOs and Groupe Pivot Education de Base, the Malian government afforded community schools legal recognition (as private schools) and thereby some access to public resources, technical support and monitoring from MEN authorities (Boukary, 1999; DeStefano, 2004; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002).¹⁴

Another major reform in the education sector in the 1990s involved the widespread hiring of contract teachers. In the late 1980s and throughout the 1990s, Mali faced a serious teacher shortage, in part due to the closing of teacher training institutes and a policy of "voluntary departures" under its structural adjustment program (Ongoïba, 2005; World Bank Group, 2006, p. 89). Upon the advice of the World Bank, Mali addressed this shortage through recruiting contract teachers, first at the secondary level, and then by 1992-1993, in basic education (Ongoïba, 2005; World Bank Group, 2006). Contract teachers represented 86% of teachers recruited between 1998 and 2002 (Ongoïba, 2005, p. 18). Though widely disliked by teachers and their unions, and raising many questions about quality, the hiring of contract teachers clearly

¹³ Data for this table is drawn from the World Bank's Education Statistics for Mali, retrieved April 27, 2007, from http://devdata.worldbank.org/edstats/SummaryEducationProfiles/CountryData/GetShowData.asp?sCtry=MLI,Mali

¹⁴ Despite these gains, our 2006 field research found that many community schools have been struggling for survival, since the withdrawal of most external donor funds in the early 2000s. Although the education sector investment program (PISE II) plans to equip and furnish some community schools, to subsidize 5000 community school teachers' salaries, and to support the certification of 3000 community school teachers (DeStefano, 2004; MEN, 2006a; MEN 2006b, p. 2; World Bank, 2006), many community schools still lack the resources needed to remain operational (Int. 5C; 19C; 36G; 37C; 60C; Ongoïba, 2005).

allowed for rapid system expansion. Contract teachers represented 61% of the total teaching staff in 2005, and are predicted to represent 88% of total staff in 2015 (World Bank, 2006, p. 14).

4.2 Mali's Education Sector Program, PRODEC

The 1999 launch of PRODEC (*Programme Décennal de Développement de l'Education*), Mali's 10-year education sector program, was a milestone in the evolution of the country's education system. Designed to promote education for all, PRODEC's objectives include a primary GER of 95% by 2010, reduced disparities between regions and between urban and rural areas and an increased GER for girls of 93% by 2010. PRODEC's core objectives for basic education stress quality education for all, national languages as a medium for teaching the early grades¹⁵ and long-term professional development for teachers (MEB/MESSRS, 2000). It also calls for genuine partnership around schools between the state, local governments, communities, parents' associations (*APEs*), school management committees (*CGS*), NGOs, teachers' unions, students, the private sector and technical and financial partners (MEB/MESSRS, 2000, p. 48). PRODEC is being implemented through PISE (*Programme d'investissement sectoriel de l'éducation*), an education sector investment program with three phases, 2001-2004, 2005-2007 and 2008-2010.¹⁶

Mali's PISE II (the second phase) currently receives support from numerous donors. Budget support (US\$190 million) to the sector is provided by the Netherlands (also representing Sweden and Norway), France (AFD) and Canada (CIDA) (World Bank, 2006).¹⁷ Other donors "support a specific component with their own instrument and according to their comparative advantage" (World Bank, 2006, p. 15). These include: the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), Switzerland, Belgium, the United Nations Development Program (UNDP), Japan, Germany, the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), the Asian Development Bank and the Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations (World Bank, 2006, p. 15). The World Bank/IDA is providing a US\$35 million credit (World Bank, 2006). Other donors to education include Luxemburg, the African Development Bank, the Islamic Development Bank, the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) Fund for International Development, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) and the World Food Program. The Malian government works closely with this group of technical and financial partners to implement PISE, through a national-level partnership framework, through joint evaluation missions and thematic working groups (Int. 33C; 35G; 38IO; Bender, Diarra, Edoh & Ziegler, 2007).

¹⁵ This is referred to as *Pédagogie Convergente*, which involves the use of Malian national languages in the early years of instruction, and then the gradual introduction of French.

¹⁶ This information is drawn from the Government of Mali's Ministry of National Education website, retrieved February 23, 2006, at http://www.education.gov.ml/cgi-bin/view_article.pl?id=43

¹⁷ Outside the education sector, Mali also receives direct bilateral budgetary support from France, Canada, the Netherlands, Sweden and Switzerland (USAID/Mali, 2005).

4.3 Decentralization of Education

Among the most important components of Mali's education sector program, PRODEC, is the government's progressive decentralization of the education system. Mali has devolved responsibility for education sector management from the central government to sub-national authorities that are elected for a mandate of five years, at the regional, *cercle* and commune levels (MATCL, 2003, p. 27).¹⁸ These authorities are able to raise resources through taxation and from donors, NGOs, the private sector and so forth (MATCL, 2003, p. 12; MEN, 2005, p. 6). The transfer of responsibilities is also to be accompanied by the corresponding transfer of resources from the central level (MATCL, 2003, p. 12); however, at the time of field research, the transfer of resources was far from sufficient to allow sub-national authorities to fully exercise their new competencies.

By 2007, the Malian government plans to fully transfer primary schools to communes (World Bank, 2006). Decentralized commune authorities are responsible for the first six years of primary education (known as the "first cycle"), as well as for preschool and non-formal education (NFE) programs. Commune authorities manage construction, maintenance and equipping of schools, teacher hiring, payment and career management, school mapping and developing strategies for girls' education, amongst many other tasks (Aide et Action, 2005c, p. 8; MATCL, 2003, p. 124; MEN CADDE, 2003; World Bank, 2006). Already by 2002, the majority of contract teachers were being recruited by decentralized authorities, with plans for them to represent 88% of the total teaching force by 2015 (Ongoïba, 2005). As a parallel process, the MEN is decentralizing its own staff to provide support and advice to elected authorities in the exercise of their new competencies, a process known as *deconcentration*. Teacher training is also to be conducted at the decentralized levels (World Bank, 2006).

Along with the introduction of PRODEC and PISE, the Malian government has also legislated the creation of a new management structure for every school, the school management committee or *Comité de Gestion Scolaire (CGS)*. Each *CGS* must have two places for members of the existing parents' association (the *association de parents d'élèves* or *APE*), and includes a wide group of school-level actors (principal, representatives for teachers, pupils and other civil society actors such as local NGOs) (MEN Sec Gen, 2004a). The establishment of school management committees became a requirement by government in 2004. The *CGS* is charged with the creation and consolidation of partnerships to address the needs of the school, with designing school development plans and budgets, school management, maintenance of infrastructure, recruiting pupils and participating in the recruitment of teachers (MEN CADDE, 2003; MEN Sec Gen, 2004a).

¹⁸ The central government retains responsibility for formulating national policy, and for the support, supervision, coordination and evaluation of its implementation (1G; 3G; 4G; 13G; 14C; 26C; 70C; Aide et Action, 2005a; MEB/MESSRS, 2000, p. 49; MEN CADDE, 2003, p. 10).

5. Civil Society Actors in Mali's Education Sector

5.1 Civil society organizations active in basic education

Civil society organizations have long played an active role in the development of education in Mali. Islamic education has existed for many centuries; Qur'anic schools proliferated in the 19th century and continue to exist today. Catholic schooling emerged in the 19th century. The period immediately after Mali's independence saw the formation of the country's first teachers' union Syndicat National de l'Education et de la Culture (SNEC) in 1963, which was joined, after the transition to democracy in 1991-1992, by several other unions, including the Fédération de *l'Education Nationale* (FEN), and a more recently-formed union for contract teachers at the secondary level, the Syndicat des professeurs contractuels de l'enseignement secondaire (SYPCES). School-level parents' associations (associations de parents d'élèves, or APEs) also date from the immediate post-independence period, although their national-level federation, FENAPEEM, was not created until 1984 (Floridi & Corella, 2004). Composed mainly of the school principal and parents' representatives, there are presently an estimated 5000 of these associations (APEs) across Mali (Int. 58D; Floridi & Corella, 2004, p. 64) - a significant constellation, although their effectiveness has at times been the subject of differing opinions.¹⁹ The national students' association, AEEM, was created in 1990 (République Française, 2003), although another national students' organization, the Union Nationale des élèves et étudiants du Mali had existed in the mid-late 1970s and clashed with the Traoré regime (Diakité, 2000).

International and national non-governmental organizations – many of them active today in basic education – began to take hold in Mali during the 1970s and 1980s (Glenzer, 2005; Tounkara, 2001). Many of the largest of the estimated 114 INGOs in Mali have or have had substantial activities in the education sector, including Save the Children (UK and US), Care International, World Vision, World Education and Plan International (Glenzer, 2005; World Bank Group, 2006). There are also numerous other INGOs active in education, including *Aide et Action*, Oxfam UK, FAWE (Forum for African Women Educationalists), *Fondation Stromme*, Africare, German Agro Action, BORNEfonden (Danish NGO), *Eau Vive* (French NGO), Sahel 21, and *Société International Linguistique* (SIL). Mali's national NGOs increased considerably in number in the 1980s, and then multiplied rapidly after the country's 1991 democratic transition. Among the national NGOs active in education are: *Association d'Appui à l'Auto Développement Communautaire* (AADeC), Association du Sahel d'Aide à la Femme et à l'Enfance (ASSAFE), Association Malienne d'Initiatives et d'Actions pour le Développement (AID-MALI), Association

¹⁹ During this research, different perspectives were expressed about the effectiveness of parents' associations (*APEs*). Some donor and civil society respondents regarded *APEs* as legitimate, democratic and representative vehicles for parents' voices at the school level; they noted *APEs*' achievements in classroom construction and mobilizing enrolments and felt that *APEs* have a continued role to play (Int. 22C; 29C; 30C; 38IO; 55D). By contrast, *APEs* were also criticized by respondents from government, national NGOs, INGOs and donors for lacking democratic practices, inadequate participation of women and being insufficiently involved in day-to-day school management (Int. 3G; 19C; 23C; 30C; 47C; 48C; 55D; 58D; 66G). However, in the 1990s, efforts were made to build democratic and dynamic school-level management structures. For example, during the expansion of community schools, NGOs trained school management committees, and these gained a good reputation for being genuinely grassroots-owned and actively involved in day-to-day school management; many parents' associations (*APEs*) were included in these training projects, and were reported to have developed significant dynamism (Int. 19C; 23C; 30C; 55D; 66G; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002).

Malienne pour la Promotion du Sahel (AMAPROS), Association Subaahi Gumo (ASG), le Cabinet de Recherche Action pour le Développement (CRADE), le Grade Banlieue, l'Institut pour l'Education Populaire (IEP), Oeuvre Malienne d'Aide à l'Enfance du Sahel (OMAES), and numerous others. 123 INGOs, national NGOs and associations are listed as active in "literacy, education and training" according to CCA/ONG, a major INGO/national NGO coordination.²⁰ Amongst other things, national NGOs and INGOs are noted for their achievements in rendering more visible, and proposing solutions for, the problem of girls' and women's disadvantaged access to formal education and literacy programs (Int. 43D; Dembélé et al., 2002).

Over the past 15 years, two different constellations of civil society actors have adopted quite different stances towards changes in Mali's basic education system. Many CSOs, and NGOs in particular, have been direct contributors to increased access to education through their role in the promotion and support of community schools during the 1990s and early 2000s (Int. 37C; 52C; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002; Tounkara, 2001). CSO contributions to the community schools have resulted in considerable expansion of access to basic education. However, they also divided civil society; considerable tensions emerged between NGOs and teachers' unions in the 1990s, particularly around questions of education quality and around the hiring of contract teachers in community schools (Int. 5C; 37C; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002; Tounkara, 2001).

A second constellation of CSOs has responded much more critically to changes introduced in the education sector. Two of the longest-standing and/or most politically-influential groups of CSOs – the teachers' unions and the national students' association (AEEM) – played powerful roles in the transition to democracy. They also actively contested education policies in the 1990s, particularly those related to the introduction of user fees in higher education, the hiring of contract teachers and the threats to education quality posed by the establishment of community schools. Teachers' unions, FENAPEEM (the national federation of parents' associations) and the AEEM (representing students) – the three groups of constituency-based civil society actors in the education sector – are regarded as being extremely effective at mobilizing their members towards particular objectives (Int. 3G; 36G; 44C; 70C). They continue to wield considerable power in the Malian education system.

5.2 Collaboration and Coordination Among CSOs in Education

Not surprisingly, given their very different histories of engagement in national education sector reform, Malian CSOs have a somewhat checkered history of coordination and collaboration around education issues. There have been efforts to coordinate a common civil society "policy voice" in the education sector. For example, *Groupe Pivot Education de Base* was created in 1992 to build collaboration between NGOs active in education, and had advocacy for Education for All (EfA) within its founding objectives. Despite its initial successes, over time, *Groupe Pivot Education de Base* ran into difficulties sustaining policy influence on behalf of its members (as highlighted in the boxed figure below). In addition, coalition-building between *different types* of CSOs in education is fairly recent; in 2005-2006, a wider civil society coalition dedicated to EfA was launched. Through this coalition, there has been some progress made towards establishing an umbrella group to speak for broader civil society in the education sector;

²⁰ This information is drawn from the CCA/ONG website, consulted May 21, 2007 at: http://www.malipages.com/ccaong/alphabetisation.asp

however, CSOs reported that they still require further support towards organizing themselves and building their capacity as policy partners. The Malian situation thus contrasts with our findings in three other country studies, where more-established umbrella organizations exist and represent, to varying degrees, the common interests of NGOs, INGOs, teachers' unions, representatives for students and parents, religious organizations, service-providers and other CSOs in the education sector.

In addition to the longstanding tensions between NGOs and national teachers' unions, our interviews uncovered other areas of disconnection amongst civil society actors in education. For example, there is some evidence of poor collaboration between CSOs with different faith-based or geographic emphases. Islamic groups active in education sometimes feel disconnected from wider civil society, while national-level and sub-national-level CSOs have not built sufficiently strong relationships between themselves (Capacci Carneal, 2004; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002).

Perhaps a primary tension we encountered is between national and international NGOs (INGOs). National NGOs (NNGOs) expressed considerable frustration at being sub-contracted by INGOs (Int. 17C; 37C), as was common practice during the expansion of community schools (Capacci Carneal, 2004; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002). There is concern over the fact that donors do not often directly fund national NGOs; thus, one informant told us that:

For the moment, [donor] support to INGOs is to the detriment of support to national NGOs (NNGOs); it should be the reverse [...] INGOs are always sub-contracting NNGOs to work at the field level, and how many resources does this waste? Why not support the NNGOs directly to deliver results on the ground? (Int. 37C)

International NGOs, for their part, made many comments about national NGOs (NNGOs). INGOs mentioned that NNGO strengths reside in non-formal education, community sensitization and mobilization, some grassroots-level innovation and work in education quality, service provision, girls' education and support to decentralization actors and processes (Int. 20C; 25C; 26C; 30C; 33C; 54C; 64C). While INGOs affirmed that they partner closely with national NGOs – so as to support and accompany, rather than lead or direct, Malian civil society – they also regard national NGOs as having many weaknesses. Amongst those weak areas: poor collaboration and communication, tenuous links to the communities where they work, lack of capacity in national-level policy design, policy analysis and advocacy, as well as a very weak presence in national-level government decision-making processes where their field experience might yield useful learning for the education system (Int. 20C; 25C; 26C; 33C; 64C).

Mali's CCA/ONG, a coordinating body for NGOs active in education and in other social sectors, offers a further illustration of the potential for tension between national NGOs and INGOs and its effects on coordination within the NGO sector. Founded by INGOs in 1983 to coordinate NGO responses to drought, the CCA/ONG emerged as "the nerve centre of Mali's development and emergency NGOs," successfully engaging with government and building its member NGOs' capacities (Int. 16C; Glenzer, 2005, p. 202). However, by 1989, sub-divisions were appearing within the NGO community. That year, a second umbrella organization was formed for national NGOs specifically, SECO/ONG, to address their particular needs and interests. Subsequently, women's NGOs decided to create their own umbrella structure, CAFO, in 1991. Today,

CCA/ONG still exists and has a broad membership; however, it is said to face considerable challenges in seeking to represent their diverse views, including in education sector issues. This is due in part at least to the substantial investment of time, resources and active participation from member NGOs that is required in order for a coalition to function as an effective representative of its members. In our interviews, a few respondents reported that CCA/ONG has difficulty mobilizing its members around a common platform and maintaining strong ties with NGOs at the sub-regional levels (Int. 1G; 16C; 43D; 44C; 57C). However, CCA/ONG should not be singled out for particular criticism, since NGO coordinating bodies in general were acknowledged by NGOs to have difficulties relating to representation, organization, and appropriate competencies for participation in policy processes (Int. 16C; 33C; 44C; 64C).

Overall, there appeared to be consensus among our informants that many individual NGOs in Mali have not developed the habit of effectively coordinating their work (Int. 1G; 3G; 25C; 43D; 64C). National-level and sub-national-level NGOs have not built sufficiently strong relationships to allow for information and experience from the grassroots to feed upwards into policy discussions to the degree that it might (1G; 64C; Capacci Carneal, 2004, Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002). Government and donors criticized NGOs for their tendency to work in isolation from government and from other NGOs (Int. 1G; 3G; 12G; 25C; 43D; Glenzer, 2005). We found that tensions within the NGOs sector rival any we could find between other sets of civil society actors. Echoing Glenzer's findings in 2005, our research suggested that some of these tensions hinge on dissatisfied relationships between national and international NGOs (Int. 4G; 17C; 37C; 43C).

Many CSOs we interviewed did recognize the advantages of collaboration between themselves (Int. 5C; 44C; 57C), and expressed some optimism about wider efforts to engineer a common CSO voice in national policy processes, particularly in the recent second PRSP design process (Int. 11C; 16C; 22C; 40C; 64C). However, there was some skepticism about the possibility of achieving, in the short-term at least, a truly functional national-level coalition of CSOs in basic education (Int. 20C); for this to succeed, clearly, civil society in education would need to address the many challenges respondents attributed to NGO coordinating bodies (Int. 1G; 16C; 33C; 43D; 64C) and the tensions existing amongst CSOs in education more generally. One NGO expressed deep reservations about the potential for collaboration between CSOs who defend very contrasting interests – such as teachers' unions, NGOs and students' associations – and questioned the usefulness and effectiveness of a coalition that would bring together these actors (Int. 9C, personal communication, August 17, 2007).

Despite these challenges highlighted by some respondents, in 2005 - 2006, an EfA coalition was launched in Mali, supported by *Aide et Action*, Oxfam UK, Plan International and Care International (Int. 33C, personal communication, July 27, 2007). This coalition brings together a very promising breadth of CSOs, including teachers' unions, FENAPEEM (the national parents' federation), INGOs, national NGOs, associations and representatives from NGO umbrella organizations and networks. At the time of our research in 2006, this coalition was experiencing some disagreement about how best to establish leadership arrangements for such a diverse group of actors (Int. 20C; 44C).²¹ Some respondents attributed these early challenges within the EfA

²¹ More generally-speaking, leadership struggles are a problem acknowledged to exist within civil society attempts at collaboration in Mali (Int. 11C; 20C; 21CG; 26C; 33C; 44C; 57C; Aide et Action, 2005b). For example, one

coalition to a focus on questions of how to structure itself, rather than a focus on building a common vision or platform (Int. 20C; 57C). However, a more recent report from 2007 suggests that this EfA coalition has since taken positive steps towards addressing questions of leadership, clarifying its vision and finding support for its activities (Int. 33C, personal communication, July 27, 2007). Its 2007 campaign was funded by a good breadth of both Northern and Southern CSOs, which suggests increasing levels of confidence in the coalition (Int. 33C, personal communication, July 27, 2007). In addition, this coalition made opening remarks as a civil society partner at the June 2007 International Conference on the Abolition of Schools Fees, in Bamako, Mali, convened by the ADEA, UNICEF and the World Bank. While Mali has not yet made a commitment to abolishing school fees, the government has expressed interest in developing a plan to this end (SFAI, 2007); this may provide a strong mobilizing frame for the EfA coalition around which its diverse actors can agree to work.

Box 1: Lessons from Groupe Pivot Education de Base

In the 1990s, a number of different *Groupes Pivot* were organized with donor support, to focus CSOs in particular domains, such as Education, Health, Environment, Micro-Enterprise, and Social Development (Int. 9C; 16C; Floridi & Corella, 2004). These efforts resulted in the formation of the *Groupe Pivot Education de Base* in 1992, an organization that coordinated and represented national NGOs and INGOs (Int. 37C; 43D; 52C; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002; Tounkara, 2001). Advocacy for EfA was amongst its objectives at its creation. In addition, *Groupe Pivot Education de Base* became heavily involved in efforts to advocate for community schools to government. Later, it was urged by donors to act as a financial intermediary between donors and organizations active in the creation of community schools (Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002, p. 35). *Groupe Pivot Education de Base* did not have the capacity to play this sort of subcontracting role, was accused of mishandling funds, and ultimately lost its capacity to coordinate its members around common policy objectives (Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002, p. 34).

The *Groupe*'s successful advocacy campaign culminated in the government's decision to incorporate community schools into the formal school system in the mid-1990s. After this, the organization was left without a clear policy objective (Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002) — even though advocacy for community schools had not been the *Groupe*'s principal objective at its creation. Today, the *Groupe Pivot Education de Base* lacks the influence it once enjoyed within the education scene, according to donors, NGOs and previous research upon Mali (Int. 20C; 23C; 25C; 26C; 38IO; 43D; 44C; 56IO; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002). The experience of the *Groupe Pivot Education de Base* illustrates some of the challenges that attend forms of CSO collaboration reliant upon external support, particularly when external partners attempt to use umbrella organizations as financial intermediaries.

NGO reported that civil society coalitions are "only represented by their secretariats, they have no legitimacy, no roots – their leaders are always fighting" (Int. 33C). Another CSO remarked: "everyone wants to lead, this causes waste of time, energy, and opportunities, because good information rather than being shared is jealously guarded; we need to recognize one another's competencies and allow each other to express these competencies in our respective domains" (Int. 44C).

5.3 Strengths and Weaknesses of CSO Capacities in Education

During our research, interview respondents from all categories (CSOs, government and donors) were asked what they regarded as the strongest roles played by CSOs in education, whether social mobilization, research, innovation, advocacy or engagement in policy.

<u>Social mobilization</u>²² is unanimously regarded as a CSO strength, especially amongst NGOs (Int. 6C; 9C; 17C; 19C; 23C; 25C; 26C; 28C; 29C; 32C; 37C; 40C; 48C; 57C). Donors agree that NGOs are strong social mobilizers (Int. 43D), while both donors *and* government regard CSOs as strong in mobilizing *resources* as well as people (Int. 4G; 12G; 35G; 56IO).

Respondents added <u>service provision</u> as a "best-played role" for CSOs (Int. 20C; 31C; 33C). Government commented positively on CSO contributions to access and "filling in where government can't" (Int. 4G; 13G). Government also praised the community schools as a solution to low access rates, where CSOs lobbied partners for resources (Int. 35G; 39G); "we would like to see more of this" one official commented (Int. 35G). NGOs were observed by government and other CSOs to be major contributors and specialists in non-formal education (NFE), including in NFE policy work (Int. 1G; 8C; 12G; 26C; 33C; 57C).

Both CSOs and government agreed that CSOs – national NGOs in particular – play an increasingly strong <u>community-level role within education decentralization</u>. Areas of activity include: capacity-building of elected officials, training of school-level actors, decentralized education planning and advocacy (Int. 3G; 4G; 8C; 9C; 14C; 19C; 20C; 26C; 29C; 48C; 65C; 69D).

<u>Research</u> is viewed by CSOs, government and donors as an area in which CSOs in general, and NGOs in particular, are *not* very active (Int. 17C; 26C; 33C; 40C; 57C). However, there is an important exception to this general finding. Mali is home to both the Malian national network and the regional headquarters of ERNWACA, the Education Research Network for West and Central Africa. ERNWACA's mission is to develop education research capacity in the region, thereby contributing to improved education policies in the long term.²³

The question of CSOs' capacity in **innovation** generated contrasting opinions. CSOs of all types tended to give examples of innovations from their own individual areas of work. Examples cited more than once were the community schools and NGO innovations in NFE; these were mentioned by INGOs, national NGOs, NGO coalitions and government officials (Int. 1G; 3G; 12G; 13G; 23C; 25C; 26C; 44C; 57C). Others (representing an INGO, a national NGO, a teachers' union and a national coalition) also *disagreed* that CSOs are strong in innovation (Int.

²²Social mobilization in this case means mobilizing communities for involvement in education, for example: getting parents to send children (especially girls) to school, or to participate in school-level decision-making, or to contribute resources towards education. Community schools' access rates were cited as an illustration of successful mobilization – however, this was the only example provided where "social mobilization" created a broad social impact (Int. 44C; 57C). Often the term referred to individual CSOs mobilizing their own constituents or communities of intervention. One CSO commented that civil society mobilization efforts do *not* lead to advocacy for making systemic change (Int. 33C).

²³ This information is drawn from ERNWACA's website, retrieved April 3, 2007, from: http://www.ernwaca.org/back.htm. ERNWACA hosted the researcher during data collection in Mali.

9C; 26C; 31C; 40C). One respondent commented: "it's difficult to get innovations accepted [by government], we have to do large amounts of lobbying for this" (Int. 9C).

CSOs' level of capacity in <u>advocacy</u> also created some debate. Teachers' unions, national NGOs and coalitions gave examples of conducting advocacy relating to community schools, and relating to children and women's rights and to girls' education. Indeed, girls' education was the most frequently-cited subject of advocacy (Int. 5C; 8C; 17C; 31C; 44C; 57C), and one where government agreed that CSOs are effective (Int. 3G; 4G; 13G).

However, apart from these examples, there was considerable disagreement about whether or not advocacy is a strong capacity *overall* for CSOs in education. Some CSOs believe it to be (Int. 5C; 16C; 28C; 44C; 57C); others see it as a weakness (Int. 17C; 19C; 20C; 22C; 23C; 33C; 40C). Government sees CSOs as strong in advocating for *resources* (Int. 4G; 12G), and commented that NGOs are increasingly playing the role of "counterweight" (Int. 4G). By contrast, a donor agency respondent commented that CSOs overall are *weak* in the role of "counter-weight" to government (Int. 58D).

One CSO interview asserted that CSOs in education make only *scattered* efforts in advocacy (Int. 22C). On a similar note, a donor remarked that individual CSOs such as teachers' unions, AEEM (representing students) and FENAPEEM (representing parents' associations) carry out advocacy when the MEN makes a decision that they are unhappy with (Int. 43D). Importantly, CSOs did not give a *current* example of an education issue where civil society *collectively* has been successful in advocating for change. This finding is corroborated by a 2005 *Aide et Action* study noting that Malian CSOs are not working synergistically in advocacy at the national level, nor with sub-regional or continental advocacy initiatives, and that the quality of their advocacy efforts is affected by their need for government and donor funding (Aide et Action, 2005b).

We also found some evidence that national CSOs define advocacy differently than do international CSOs. *Aide et Action* (2005b) reports that what Malian CSOs call advocacy is actually sensitization; this is because CSOs, rather than advocating for change, are often asking for things that decision-makers and donors already agree upon. Malian CSOs seem wary of engaging in "conflictual" advocacy and being badly-regarded by government (Int. 9C; Aide et Action, 2005b). Illustrating this, the Global Action Week campaign has been *jointly organized* by CSOs and the MEN in recent years. Government cited advocacy for EfA as a CSO strength. However, there has been considerable disagreement amongst CSOs themselves about whether they are doing *genuine* advocacy when conducting Global Action Week collaboratively with the MEN (Int. 8C; 25C; 40C versus Int. 5C; 19C; 20C; 26C). National CSOs were represented on both sides of the debate. One CSO commented that Global Action Week "is not about being antagonistic, but about holding government accountable (...) this isn't going to happen as long as it's the government that's organizing the week and handing out the money to organize the activities" (Int. 20C).

Informants also told us that CSO's use of media was underdeveloped. NGOs are very appreciative of media for disseminating their ideas and multiplying the impact of their work; however, they report that the cost of using media is far too high (Int. 6C; 8C; 9C; 17C; 44C). For its part, perspectives from the written press informed us that due to the media's resource

shortages, journalists are obliged to write about topics that sell papers quickly, rather than providing in-depth coverage of important development issues being addressed by NGOs (Int. 41C). Our research also suggested that relationships between CSOs and Members of Parliament is below potential; there were no examples provided of sustained, strategic collaboration between these two parties.

Finally, relating to **engagement in education policy**, there was some agreement from national NGOs, INGOs and teachers' unions that overall, civil society capacity, involvement and understanding of its potential role in policy processes is weak – especially within formal education (Int. 16C; 17C; 20C; 25C; 26C; 27C; 29C; 40C; 65C). Government and donors had very little to say about CSOs' contributions towards national-level policy analysis or policy design. Despite this apparent consensus, CSOs still felt that they had exerted policy influence, although when asked *where*, their answers varied greatly. Very often, individual CSOs reported that they influenced government policy within their own spheres of activity and collaboration, such as in *passerelle*²⁴ or preschool policies. Other CSOs felt that they had influenced major decisions, such as the state's choice to allocate 30% of its budget to education. Although plausible, these examples were reported only once, and are thus difficult to evaluate. Slightly stronger evidence – coming from multiple respondents, or from the literature on Malian civil society - suggested that CSOs had exercised policy influence in the content of the new curriculum, in the gender aspects of national-level education policy and in the approach to training school-level management structures (Int. 20C; 27C; 69D; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002). Finally, there were areas of policy influence cited by more than one CSO and confirmed by government and/or donor respondents, namely: girls' education²⁵ and the national NFE policy.

However, it is important to note that neither CSOs nor government nor the literature on Mali seemed to offer a recent example of a major issue where broader civil society in education *collectively* has influenced policy change. This finding is similar to the conclusions drawn about CSOs and <u>advocacy</u> in education. It suggests that CSOs in education are somewhat scattered, and not yet fully adept at working in coalitions that bring together different types of civil society actor (such as teachers' unions, representatives for students and parents, national NGOs, INGOs, service providers and so forth).

6. Civil Society in the Design and Implementation of Mali's Education **Sector Program**

Mali's education sector strategy (PRODEC), designed between 1996 and 1999, and the investment program designed to support it (PISE) have significantly shifted the terms of engagement between government, donors and civil society actors in the education sector. In what follows, we look first at the roles played by civil society in the design of PRODEC, and at

²⁴ *Passerelle* refers to the process whereby a student from a non-formal education (NFE) program is facilitated to pass into the formal school system. ²⁵ Some CSOs reported that they had influenced the policy decision whereby girls who become pregnant should not

be required to abandon their studies. The same policy impact was reported by CSOs in the Tanzanian case-study.

the new kinds of roles and expectations set in place for civil society by PRODEC. We then examine CSO engagement in subsequent policy processes in the implementation and evaluation stages of the sector program, arguing here that there continue to be substantial obstacles to CSO engagement in national-level policy-setting, as well as new challenges for CSOs relating to the decentralization of educational governance.

6.1 CSO participation in the design of PRODEC (1996-1999)

The design process of PRODEC marked a dramatic shift from the centralized and governmentled policy processes that had characterized Mali in the past (Tounkara, 2001). Because the Malian government wished to introduce decentralization reforms that would greatly increase the need for citizens' participation in the education system, it was within government interests to make a great effort to consult very widely and to build relationships with the Malian population around education-related questions.

However, our research found that civil society actors held conflicting views about the extent to which they had influenced the design of the PRODEC. One group remarked upon extensive consultations and felt that CSOs had indeed been listened to. A second group told us that their views were not taken into consideration and saw PRODEC as an externally-influenced plan. As we shall see below, at least part of the explanation for these different views stems from the longstanding divide between CSOs who view themselves as "complementary service-providers" within the basic education system and who have strong international ties, versus well-established constituency-based organizations and nationally-based organizations. Their different opinions are laid out in the Table below:

| Issues in question | CSOs with strong national | CSOs with strong |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| | roots or constituencies* | international connections** |
| Degree to which the design | The design process itself was | The design process was very |
| process for the education sector | flawed and this hindered effective | consultative of CSOs. |
| program (PRODEC) was | CSO participation (e.g. late | |
| conducive to CSO participation. | invitations, documents for | |
| | preparation unavailable). | |
| Degree to which PRODEC | CSO contributions did not influence | CSOs made significant |
| content was influenced by CSOs | the final content of the sector | contributions towards the content |
| | program: "we participated but our | of the sector program: "when we |
| | opinions were not taken into | read PRODEC, we can see that |
| | consideration;" | it's the fruit of a wide |
| | | consultation" |
| | Major policies, particularly those | |
| | associated with decentralization | Decentralization reforms were |
| | reforms – including decentralized | supported by CSOs. |
| | teacher management and the | |
| | introduction of new school | |
| | management committees – were | |
| | introduced; CSO views on these | |
| | were ignored. | |

Table 4: Contrasting Malian perspectives on their participation in PRODEC design

* Includes teachers' unions, representatives for parents, national education researchers and some national NGOs with strong Malian roots.

** Includes INGOs, national NGOs and national education researchers.

In our interviews, government officials provided us with evidence that government *did* seek to hear from a wide variety of civil society actors during the sector program's design (Int. 1G; Int. 18CG; Int. 35G; 39G; 66G; ME Sec Gen, 2001a). As noted by Tounkara (2001, p. 19) "leadership from strategic personalities favourable to NGOs" [translated by the researcher] played an important role in ensuring CSO consultations. For example, the Minister of Education, who had been a civil society actor personally, ensured the invitation of CSOs such as *Groupe Pivot Education de Base* into the sector program's design processes (Tounkara, 2001). In addition, the regional coordinator of ERNWACA, the Malian-based regional education research network, led PRODEC's design team, and was very inclusive of CSOs in the process (Int. 52C; Tounkara, 2005). Donors and external researchers agree that CSOs were consulted and significantly involved (Int. 13G; 43D; Public World, 2004; Tounkara, 2005; Wing, 2002). In addition, a number of CSOs commented positively that they, and wider civil society, had a significant role in the sector program's design process.

These "positive" responses came mainly from representatives of INGOs, or from Malian CSOs with strong international connections or from Malian chapters of INGOs (Int. 6C, 26C, 30C, 32C, 37C, 44C, 52C, 54C, 57C). Along with government these actors view PRODEC as a strongly Malian-lead, designed and owned sector strategy (Int. 18CG; 35G; 54C; 57C; 66G). Thus, according to one government informant:

If someone wanted to go and start another [education sector] program, the population would say "is it PRODEC? Because we agreed with you on PRODEC" – if you try and do something different, they'll ask you questions, because they have appropriated PRODEC for themselves and want to see its results. (Int. 66G)

By contrast, CSO *criticism* of the PRODEC design process came mainly from national NGOs or CSOs with strong national roots. They spoke of invitations that arrived too late, unavailable government documents and too few seats made available to CSOs in discussions (Int. 29C; 65C). They also felt that their contributions were not taken into consideration, that CSOs were called to validate decisions already made, and that the final version of the document was the work of government administrators and/or strongly influenced by expatriates (Int. 5C; 8C; 9C; 10C; 14C; 16C; 40C; 64C; 70C). Teachers' unions, representatives for parents and some national NGOs were highly critical of aspects of the decentralization reforms introduced with the PRODEC, including the decentralized management of teachers by elected sub-national authorities, the introduction of new pedagogical methods without adequate means to support them and the plan to establish new school management committees (CGS). Amongst these actors, some regard these policies as having been brought into the sector program under the influence of expatriates. Joined by some INGOs and national NGOs, representatives from amongst these actors assert that PRODEC is not distinctively Malian, being a replica of 10-year education programs found in other countries (Int. 5C; 21CG; 22C; 33C). One CSO commented: "from one country to another, it's the same thing: in Mali, in Burkina, in Senegal, in Niger, there's PRODEC" (Int. 21CG).

Admittedly, there *is* evidence that donors, INGOs and NGOs had a good deal of influence in education policy during the time period of the sector program's design. Previous research in Mali finds that government partnership with NGOs in education was strong in the late 1990s and early 2000s (Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002), and PRODEC was formulated from 1996-1999. In

addition, the PRODEC design process was launched after *Groupe Pivot Education de Base* and donors had been advocating that government officially grant community schools a place within the national education system, which government did through legislation in 1994 (Int. 37C; Int. 52C; Boukary, 1999; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002). We were told repeatedly that experience from the community schools influenced the content of PRODEC (Int. 52C; 55D; 66G; DeStefano, 2004).

Clearly a strong alliance between international donors and NGOs around the community schools' expansion allowed one constellation of civil society actors to play what they felt to be a significant and positive role in shaping the government's new education sector plan. However, this alliance also reinforced an ongoing divide between international NGOs and those civil society actors who have been the traditional stakeholders in Mali's education sector: parents' associations, teachers' unions and some national NGOs.

6.2 Decentralized Roles for CSOs Under PRODEC: Ongoing Debates

Amongst the core objectives of Mali's education sector program, PRODEC, is "a genuine partnership around schools" (MEB/MESSRS, 2000, p. 48). PRODEC lists a wide variety of partners from within civil society including communities, parents' associations (*APEs*), school management committees (*CGS*), development associations, NGOs, teachers' unions, and students' and pupils' associations (MEB/MESSRS, 2000, p. 48). Other partners include the private sector and technical and financial partners (donors) (MEB/MESSRS, 2000, p. 48).

Despite these positive statements, PRODEC sets out a framework for civil society participation that emphasizes civil society roles in a decentralized context and fails to establish a clear framework for CSO participation in education policy at the *national* level. As a related point, *Aide et Action* (2005b, p. 86) asserts that CSOs should have further roles beyond approving and supporting the state in implementing, monitoring and evaluation of policies; they should also be engaged in monitoring and advocacy.²⁶

In our research, we found that government officials and government policy documents do indeed emphasize a *decentralized policy role* for CSOs, while neglecting national-level policy engagement. Government officials asserted that the education sector program had brought new roles for civil society at the local and school levels – in sensitization, training, monitoring, bringing stability to the system and generating new levels of collaboration between state and non-state actors (Int. 39G). Prior to PRODEC, the state had been both implementer and evaluator, but now the government recognizes that it "can't be [the main] actor and do everything" (Int. 39G). Government officials and government policy documents set out these main roles for CSOs in education:

advise the government of potential problems that might derail implementation of the national education policy, as well as proposing solutions (Int. 35G)

 $^{^{26}}$ An Oxfam-sponsored study even quotes a government official as saying that a "lack of public resources is the government's main justification for involving civil society (and indeed the whole population) in the provision of schooling (...) [This study then says that] the role of communities is thus seen mainly as being to raise money for the implementation of the government's objectives" (Public World, 2004, p. 49).

contribute towards infrastructure, financial and human resources (Int. 3G; 4G; 35G; 66G; MEN CADDE, 2003, p. 12)

create concrete plans for regional disparities in education (Int. 39G) build management and governance capacities in locally-elected officials (Int. 3G) at the school level or community level, to sensitize, mobilize and support the training of communities and school management committees (*CGS*) (Int. 3G; 4G; 39G; 66G) teachers' unions, parents' associations (*APEs*) and NGOs are to keep teachers, parents and communities, respectively, sensitized and mobilized to participate in addressing school-level needs and challenges, to prevent conflicts and to promote the smoothrunning of the system (Int. 35G; MEN CADDE, 2003, pp. 11 – 12) communities have a voice in determining the school calendar, in curricula and program content, in monitoring and evaluating school activities, in deciding where schools will be built, and in teacher recruitment (MEN CADDE, 2003, p. 10; MEB/MESSRS, 2000, p. 49)

communities and elected decentralized authorities are asked to mobilize resources towards the construction, equipping and maintenance of schools (Int. 66G; MEN CADDE, 2003, p. 10).

Deconcentrated MEN officials summarized the role of civil society at the school level as follows: in decentralization, CSOs have the biggest role; for example, the school management committees (CGS) were created as a structure to be close to the school [...]; in the future [...] CGS will be the key structure for school management, for fund-raising, planning budgets, doing advocacy to the commune so that school projects are included in the PDECOM & PDESEC²⁷ [i.e. in local education and development plans]; communities must say, 'this school is our business first'. (Int. 46C)

These same officials felt that CSOs need greater skills in project design, monitoring and evaluation to be effective actors within decentralization. In general, government called for CSOs to have stronger capacities in planning education systems (Int. 39G). From a state perspective, CSOs need to be better-informed about the major directions being taken in education around the world, and to learn how other CSOs are organized outside Mali (Int. 13G; 39G). Government officials also called for funds for enhancing CSO engagement in non-formal education, another sub-sector of education in which decentralized authorities and their CSO partners are to play a major role.

The government's optimism about new roles for civil society under decentralization stands in contrast to the deep concerns expressed by some civil society actors about the impact of decentralization upon education. In our research, we found that decentralization reforms standing at the core of PRODEC remain the hottest area of contestation and disagreement among civil society actors. Decentralization is also regarded as posing a significant challenge to CSOs in terms of their need to reposition themselves in a new governance context.

²⁷ PDECOM refers to commune-level education development plans, and PDESEC, to government plans at the decentralized levels for economic, social and cultural development. These plans are intended to feed into national-level planning and policy.

Criticisms of PRODEC's decentralization reforms came in two categories. The first reflected a sense that decentralization of educational governance was not occurring with the necessary guidance, capacity development and resources. Some CSOs and donors argued that PRODEC is still being implemented in a top-down manner (Int. 21CG; 29C; 33C; 62D; 69D). Structures for consultation are not functional at the decentralized levels, thereby limiting opportunities for collaboration between elected authorities, deconcentrated MEN officials, school-level actors and CSOs (Int. 3G; 43D; MEN Sec Gen, 2006a; Public World, 2004; World Bank/IDA, 2007; Ziegler, Touré, Tangara & Coulibaly, 2004). All actors need training for decentralization, from deconcentrated MEN officials, to elected officials, to NGOs, to school-level committees (CGS) and parents' associations (APEs), and the division of their roles needs to be clarified and formalized (Int. 7C; 49G; 55D; 63D; Aide et Action, 2005a; Ziegler et al., 2004). Furthermore, while education development plans are required to be produced at the decentralized levels of governance (commune, cercle, region), with the goal of "bottom-up" planning for the sector, many respondents complained of a lack of coherence and synergy between national-level sector policy and education plans produced at the decentralized levels (Int. 21CG; 33C; 42D; 63D; 68G; 69D; MEN, 2006a).

As a related problem, the management of education sector resources remains centralized (Ziegler et al., 2004), while government and CSOs reported that adequate resources are not yet being transferred so that elected officials and their partners can fully exercise the competencies transferred to them (Int. 3G; 7C; 30C; 37C; Ongoïba, 2005). This undermines people's motivation to invest in educational planning: "why should we plan when we cannot implement?" (Int. 37C).

The second category of criticisms revolves around specific aspects of PRODEC's decentralization policies. For example, the creation of new school management committees (*CGS*) continues to raise concern amongst some national NGOs and parents' representatives that the *CGS* will not allow for parents to express a democratically-chosen voice at the school level – in cases where the *CGS* replaces or marginalizes the traditional parents' association (*APE*). The unclear division of roles between school management committees (*CGS*) and parents' associations (*APEs*) contributes to ongoing antagonism between the two (Int. 22C; 27C; 30C; 38IO; 48C).²⁸ For their part, teachers' unions object to the use of double-shifts in classrooms and the recruitment and management of teachers by elected local authorities rather than by the central state. Another major, on-going issue of concern for teachers' unions has been the large-scale recruitment of contract teachers – a policy that remains central to PRODEC (MEB/MESSRS 2000, pp. 13, 17).²⁹

²⁸ However, some CSOs and government respondents also questioned the practices of the parents' associations (*APEs*) and favoured the new school management committees (*CGS*). They view the *CGS* as closely-involved in school-related matters, pro-active in gaining resources, and benefiting from the input of a broader membership that includes good participation from women (Int. 3G; 8C; 47C; 48C; 49G). Still, most supporters of the new school management committees (*CGS*) concede that the *CGS* are still very much in their infancy, and have problems of low capacity and weak understanding of their roles (Int. 27C; 48C; 49G; 50G; 54C).

²⁹ A 2005 study sponsored by the well-known teachers' union, *Syndicat National de l'Education et de la Culture* (SNEC), finds that education quality has been adversely affected by the recruitment of contract teachers without the necessary educational background or teacher training (Ongoïba, 2005). In addition, the study finds that education quality suffers because these teachers are inadequately paid, and have to work under unfavourable conditions such as high teacher-student ratios, double-shifts and multi-grade classrooms (Ongoïba, 2005). Unions have advocated

Despite these major areas of contention, in 2005, government and diverse civil society actors agreed to come together and work on a strategy to prevent disruptions to the education system and to improve its overall quality. This was through the development of an agreement to ensure peaceful and performing schools, the Accord de Partenariat pour une Ecole apaisée et *performante*.³⁰ This agreement was signed by teachers' unions, FENAPEEM (representing parents' associations), the AEEM (representing students and pupils), CAFO (a coordinating body for women's NGOs and associations), the Malian Association for Human Rights (L'Association Malienne des Droits de l'Homme), faith-based organizations (Le Haut Conseil Islamique du *Mali*, Protestant and Catholic church associations) and representatives for youth and for private schools. The agreement is the result of consultations in all regions and in Bamako district, between educational administrations, teachers' unions, CSOs and the AEEM (the national students' association). In this Accord, the Malian government made many commitments, including increased public resources to education, acceleration of decentralization reforms, and the creation of permanent consultation frameworks for information, education and communication about education-related challenges. CSO signatories made commitments to support government in the on-going development and implementation of solutions and to mobilize and govern their constituencies accordingly.

6.3 Diminishing Engagement in National Policy Processes?

Reports from many respondents during our research suggested that the *current* degree of government and CSO partnership in national-level education policy processes appears to have changed, as compared to the time of PRODEC design. Sources who spoke positively about civil society involvement during the sector program's design period reported that there are now *lower* levels of civil society contribution to the on-going monitoring and evaluation of the sector program (Int. 44C; Public World, 2004).³¹

Several sources led us to conclude that CSO participation in PRODEC implementation, monitoring and evaluation processes has not become *regularized or institutionalized*. In other words, there is a lack of clearly-defined, functional structures and mechanisms for consultation and shared decision-making between government, donors and CSOs. PRODEC planned for consultation frameworks, yet these are not operational at national, regional or local levels (Int. 3G; 14C; 33C; Aide et Action, 2005b; World Bank/IDA, 2007). Respondents also reported that mechanisms for CSO participation in monitoring and evaluation of PRODEC are lacking (Int. 14C; 44C; Public World, 2004). Although the government asserts that CSOs were involved and consulted in the PISE I evaluation (the evaluation of the sector program's first phase) and the

and worked with government to improve salaries, training and career plans for contract teachers, and today both HIPC and additional donor funds are going to improved salaries and certification/training opportunities for them. ³⁰ This information was drawn from the President of Mali's website, retrieved March 2, 2007 from: http://www.koulouba.pr.ml/article.php3?id_article=674.

³¹A small group of respondents stressed that CSOs *are* making progress towards increased participation in policy processes. They pointed out that CSOs are contributors to non-formal education (NFE) policy and high-level NFE decision-making processes (Int. 26C; 33C; 38IO; 57C). They also mentioned how CSOs are organizing very effectively for the second PRSP design process. These respondents saw CSOs as having new levels of awareness about their need to participate, and doing so, increasingly, within all major social sectors (Int. 8C; 16C; 24C; 29C; 40C; 64C).

PISE II design (the design of the sector program's second phase)³² (1G; 39G), donor and civil society voices contend that CSO participation in the PISE II process was too late, too rushed, non-existent and/or inadequate (Int. 20C; 29C; 38IO; 43D; 58D; 59D). While CSOs are invited by the MEN to participate in validating education plans or policies (Int. 57C; Aide et Action, 2005b), they are often not present at the founding stages when the major directions are being determined (Int. 38IO).³³

Where decision-making and governance structures *do* exist for basic education within the sector program, respondents reported that CSOs are not active participants in them (Int. 3G; 33C; 35G; 38IO; 42D; 56IO; 58D). Examples cited by respondents included the PISE piloting committee (*Comité de pilotage du PISE*), the partners' framework (*cadre partenarial*), joint evaluation missions and thematic groups (*groupes thématiques*) (Int. 3G; 33C; 35G; 38IO; 42D; 56IO; 58D). The only exception here is that some NGOs do actively participate in the non-formal education (NFE) thematic group (Int. 20C; Int. 25C; 26C; 33C; 56IO).³⁴

In addition, when CSOs were asked what are the major structures or mechanisms for government and civil society partnership within education, their responses varied greatly. This suggests that CSOs do not *know or agree upon* the location of key decision-making spaces, and they do not collectively aspire to access those spaces. A recent report by *Aide et Action* (2005b, p. 6) agrees with this assessment, arguing that CSOs lack knowledge of the major decision-making mechanisms, and calling for research into these structures and the degree to which civil society proposals are taken into consideration inside them. In general, it seems that CSOs have up to the present been participating in education policy processes more as individual CSOs, rather than being part of a well-established coalition in which different types of CSO develop a common platform and strategize about how and where to present it to government.

Despite the lack of regular mechanisms and coordination for CSO engagement in national policy making, we learned during our research that some CSOs have maintained strong direct relationships with the MEN. Teachers' unions, AEEM (the national students' association) and FENAPEEM (the national federation for parents' associations) were reported to have regular meetings with MEN officials (Int. 1G; 35G; 39G; 43D). In addition, when respondents were asked who was present at recent policy processes such as the PISE I evaluation and PISE II design, these organizations were the ones most frequently mentioned (Int. 5C; 8C; 22C; 34C; 43D; 58D; 59D; Int. 65C). This is especially true for teachers' unions (Int. 5C; 22C; 43D; 58D; 59D; 65C). As is apparent with the 2005 agreement for peaceful and performing schools (*Accord de Partenariat pour une Ecole apaisée et performante*), the government is clearly

³² PRODEC is being implemented through PISE (*Programme d'investissement sectoriel de l'éducation*), an education sector investment program with three phases, 2001-2004, 2005-2007 and 2008-2010. This information is drawn from the Government of Mali's Ministry of National Education website, retrieved February 23, 2006, at http://www.education.gov.ml/cgi-bin/view_article.pl?id=43

³³ As a related comment, one donor respondent stated that deconcentrated MEN officials are, similarly to CSOs, invited quite late during policy processes, once major directions have already been decided (Int. 59D). This suggests that partnership between MEN officials at the central level and key education actors outside the central MEN has yet to become consistent and well-established. By contrast, the MEN relationship with *donors* in sector governance seems much more regular and torordinated (Int. 35G; 38IO; 43D).

³⁴ However, it is unclear whether CSOs in this NFE thematic group include national NGOs or only INGOs.

working very hard to contain opposition to the PRODEC from this group of actors by maintaining regular communication with them.

In contrast to the experiences of this constellation of strongly-rooted national civil society actors, NGOs' collaboration with the MEN and participation in policy processes seems to have declined. For example, NGOs were said to be absent from the PISE I evaluation and/or PISE II design (Int. 9C; 15C; 25C; 30C; 37C; 58D). This may be because the NGO sector is considered difficult to engage, due to its lack of structure and internal coordination and its technical weaknesses (Int. 31C; 33C; 43D). A donor representative stressed that through being absent from PRODEC's thematic groups, NGOs are unable to really understand and appropriate the education sector program, or to align themselves within it (Int. 56IO). Indeed, the NGO sector is felt to be less organized and vocal today than it was around the time of PRODEC's design (Int. 43D; 52C). There has been a decrease in direct donor funding, adversely affecting the internal strength and external influence of coalitions like *Groupe Pivot Education de Base* and CCA/ONG (Int. 23C; 43D; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002).

7. Current Relationships between Government and Civil Society Organizations

As we have mentioned above, current relationships between government and civil society actors present a mixed picture. Formal government acknowledgement of roles for civil society in *national-level* policy-making spheres is weak, and even if it were stronger, regularized mechanisms are still lacking for CSO participation. Furthermore, two different constellations of civil society actors have emerged in Mali, each with quite different responses to PRODEC. Not surprisingly, these groups have different types of relationships with government.

Teachers' unions in Mali were considered by other respondents to have great influence upon government (Int. 13G; 36G; 38IO; 70C), as were the national students' association, AEEM, and the national parents' federation, FENAPEEM (Int. 3G; 70C). Doors are very open to these groups at the MEN. As one teachers' union representative commented, the MEN is genuinely attentive to their concerns, even though "certain of [our] demands are beyond the scope of the MEN to resolve;" the MEN, for its part, acknowledged the same (Int. 1G). At the same time, representatives from these groups have sometimes felt that while government receives them cordially, their views are not always reflected in important policy decisions, and they continue to voice objections to components of the sector program. Respondents from amongst these strong national CSOs also wish for greater transparency from government about the use of SWAp funds, and expressed a desire for more participation of citizens in budget management and evaluations (Int. 5C; 22C; Public World, 2004).

Government also recognizes the importance of partnership with the NGO sector for the attainment of its education objectives (Int. 1G; 21CG; Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002). INGOs and national NGOs report positively that the MEN is open to them, consults, encourages and collaborates with them (Int. 6C; 9C; 14C; 26C; 40C). This is especially true of the CNR-ENF, the government department responsible for non-formal education (NFE) (Int. 57C). However, the relationship between NGOs and government also has many points of tension. There is, for

example, a longstanding belief on the part of government officials that NGOs do not respect their right to lead and set the "ground rules" for the national education system – an outgrowth of the roles NGOs tended to assume during the community schools' expansion and also a reflection of NGO criticisms of government in the 1990s (Int. 52C; Boukary, 1999; Tounkara, 2001). Furthermore, government officials today feel that NGOs do not collaborate and communicate effectively with government (1G; 3G; 12G), and should be working more deliberately within government priorities and regulations for the education system (Int. 1G; 12G; 35G; 66G; Tounkara, 2001). As one official remarked, "NGOs have a tendency to work alone; this is their problem, their nature; they have financial resources, but don't want collaboration with state or [elected officials], so as not to weaken their position vis-à-vis resources received externally" (Int. 3G).

NGOs, for their part, feel that there is some jealousy, distrust and resistance from government towards them (Int. 6C; 19C; 29C). Prior research on the government-NGO relationship in Mali found that government recognizes NGOs as partners, but still wants to define the terms of the partnership (Miller-Grandvaux et al., 2002). Government regards NGO strengths as social mobilization, resource mobilization and capacity-development (Public World, 2004; Tounkara, 2001). However, some NGOs feel that government discourages their innovations and restricts them from playing roles in pedagogical monitoring and teacher training, roles where they might be of service to over-stretched government officials (Int. 19C; Tounkara, 2001). One NGO commented that the government has a *policy* of allowing CSOs to work in education quality, but a *practice* of restricting them to access-related areas of education. Another NGO respondent commented: "there's a certain resistance, the state needs a change in mindset and behaviour; they're used to being responsible for all the realizations and self-evaluating; now this is no longer the case, this is the major difficulty" (Int. 29C). NGOs want the state to entrust them with more responsibility (Int. 6C); "we want a real partnership with the state, the way one exists in the health sector" (Int. 9C).

A major focus of tension between NGOs and the state is the Ministry of Territorial Administration and Local Communities (MATCL), the ministry that manages NGOs' standard agreement with government. Government had proposed changes to this agreement, and NGOs were unclear as to the significance of those changes (Int. 25C; 33C). Some NGO representatives reported that government wanted 1% of NGOs' annual budgets to go towards government monitoring and 60% of NGO budgets to go into infrastructure in all sectors (Int. 14C). These demands from the state led to a breakdown in dialogue between NGOs and MATCL officials back 2005-2006 (Int. 4G; 14C; 25C).³⁵ In addition, a national NGO commented upon the insufficiency of government visits and feedback on NGO reports (Int. 17C). Government was also critiqued for failing to properly investigate the credibility of NGOs to whom it gives funding and for not adequately monitoring their work (Int. 6C; 13G; 17C; 31C).

The local-level interface between government and civil society organizations needs much more research. Under current policy, education development plans are required to be produced at decentralized levels of governance (commune, *cercle*, region), with the goal of "bottom-up" planning for the sector. While teachers' unions continue to object to decentralization, other

³⁵ More recent information from 2007 suggests that government has since retracted the demands (Int. 70C, personal communication, March 2007).

CSOs have begun to play an important role in promoting participatory planning processes at the school level, and in helping school-level actors³⁶ make their voices heard within local authorities' planning processes. While the production of education plans at the decentralized levels has only begun in the past 2-3 years, there are some positive reports of genuine "bottom-up" planning, supported by NGOs (Int. 37C; 46G; 48C; 49G; Ziegler et al., 2004).

When NGO respondents were asked about their relationships with MEN officials at the subnational, decentralized levels, there were mixed comments. A number of NGOs stated that officials at the deconcentrated level are competent, knowledgeable, available for consultation and good collaborators (Int. 6C; 15C; 54C). These officials contribute expertise, facilities and equipment to education programs; they provide training to teachers and non-formal education (NFE) staff, and they invite NGOs to workshops (Int. 6C; 15C; 19C; 37C; 48C). However, while some respondents asserted that officials had provided technical support and monitoring to their programs (Int. 48C), others stated that these officials do not provide the necessary services in this regard (Int. 15C; 19C; 25C; 37C). Deconcentrated MEN officials are often regarded to lack the logistical, human and financial resources to carry out these and other responsibilities (Int. 6C; 14C; 15C; 17C; 25C; 37C; 54C; Public World, 2004; Ziegler et al., 2004); they have even been known to ask NGOs for financial support to do their work (Int. 14C; 15C; 17C). Some NGOs also reported conflicts over leadership at the local level, with MEN officials attempting to retain key roles in the management of schools and recruitment of teachers, without being questioned by NGOs (Int. 19C; 27C). It appears that these new relationships have not been sufficiently formalized or clarified (Int. 14C; 27C; 37C; Ziegler et al., 2004).

Our research did not yield any examples of sustained, strategic collaboration between Members of Parliament and civil society actors. However, NGOs gave some mixed reports about their relationships with elected officials at the *local* levels. Some made positive comments about their strong partnerships; these officials are open to meeting with NGOs and inclusive of NGOs in their activities (Int. 6C; 14C; 17C; 26C; 37C). Elected officials were seen as having been quick to assume their competencies in domains such as school construction and teacher recruitment (Int. 54C; 68G; Ziegler et al., 2004). They were also regarded as having a strong interest in building good relationships with NGOs, who can enhance their re-election opportunities by providing resources for local development programs (Int. 14C; 58D). "Mayors appropriate results of NGOs for their electoral campaigns" commented one NGO (Int. 37C). However, NGO relationships with elected local officials were also described as weak, still emerging or problematic in many cases, because of mutual suspicion or because of local officials' poor capacity for participatory governance and shared management (Int. 33C; 40C; 50G; 58D).

While only four school management committees (*CGS*) were interviewed, they had positive reports – and no negative remarks – about their current collaboration with deconcentrated MEN officials (Int. 45C; 47C; 51C; 61C). They remarked on a new sense of equal partnership with MEN officials:

More and more, [they] consult [us] within decision-making processes" (Int. 47C); there is "now a closer relationship between [these MEN authorities] and us; before, we were

³⁶ School-level actors include school principals, teachers, pupils, parents and other civil society representatives, for example, from local NGOs or women's associations.

recipients, but now, it's us who 'throw the ball' to them; they assess and make suggestions/recommendations, and we apply those [...] now we talk about everything; before we didn't discuss at all; [...] we were just implementers; now, we design projects with them, and we discuss them. (Int. 51C)

However, relationships between these committees (*CGS*) and *elected* local officials seemed to be still at the very early stages of development and are sometimes characterized by confusion, conflict, mutual distrust or lack of collaboration (Int. 58D). In some cases, mayors have helped *CGS* with administrative issues (such as getting birth certificates for children seeking school enrollment, or helping children from NFE programs pass into the formal system), as well as providing some (limited) resources (Int. 45C; 51C; 60C). However, a couple of *CGS* reported that mayors/commune officials have been unable to contribute towards their school development projects (Int. 47C; 61C).

8. Current Relationships between Donors and Civil Society Organizations

In our interviews, government officials, civil society and donors all stated that contact between donors and CSOs is very limited in Mali at present. Donor resources are going increasingly into budget support, and donors have direct relationships mostly with the MEN (Int. 1G; 20C; 43D; 58D). Strong national CSOs such as teachers' unions, representatives for students and parents have little or no direct relationship with donors; for some of them, their interactions with donors have decreased over time and they want to resume a stronger relationship. Donors *do* have direct relationships with INGOs and NGOs (Int. 1G; 26C; 43D), although in some cases, this is just with their own country's INGOs (Int. 43D). One donor representative remarked: "it's government's responsibility to build relationships with its own civil society" (Int. 43D).

Donors regard CSOs as having roles to play within PRODEC, in training school-level actors like the school management committees (*CGS*), training communes in decentralized education planning, communicating realities "on the ground," providing services to local authorities and conducting local-level advocacy (Int. 43D; 58D). Donor respondents agreed that CSOs need capacity-building to play their role of "counter-weight" (Int. 38IO) and to work within education quality areas (Int. 62D). They felt that CSOs require support to reposition themselves for a decentralizing context (Int. 63D), and help to understand the education system and to make informed choices about access, quality and management, rather than maintaining a narrow focus on infrastructure (Int. 69D).

However, some donors suggested that their counterparts are not sufficiently attuned to the importance of civil society participation in national-level education policy processes (Int. 38IO; 43D). These respondents believe that donors should be advocating more to government for civil society involvement in policy and decision-making spaces.

Some donors *are* prepared to advocate to the MEN in this regard, but there is still considerable uncertainty about how support for CSO policy roles should be provided. For donors, the vast number of CSOs, and the variation in their levels of capacity, pose a serious challenge (Int. 43D).

While donors agree that they should support more CSO coordination, they are unclear about how to do so (Int. 38IO; 42D). In our interviews, donors did not mention specific programs or funding initiatives to support civil society participation in policy dialogue. One donor official explained:

We're very concerned by the weak capacities of civil society, by the fact that civil society doesn't seem to have a platform for action; we are trying to think of projects or programs to support civil society, but civil society is so diffuse and changeable, we don't know what to focus on first (...) in education, with budget support, donors will have less and less contact with civil society, this concerns us because we know that civil society has a big role to play in implementing PRODEC; this is a puzzle – how to reinforce civil society to play its role? We haven't figured out a concrete way to do this, so for the moment, we just play an advocacy role (...) if you have answers, we'd be interested to know, we and other donors have been juggling with this for years (...) the challenge is to bring structure to this disorganized context – we just react to individual proposals (...) what is needed is a more holistic, macro-approach. (Int. 43D)

In contrast, Malian CSOs offered many reflections and suggestions for donors. They are worried that the movement towards budget support and sector programs is a passing fad. They are also concerned that "budget support puts CSOs in the position of having to court the state so as to gain funds," or else, to chase after funding at the national level rather than supporting the grassroots (Int. 11C; 16C; 62D).

Furthermore, when asked how donors could better support CSO participation and partnerships with government in education, CSOs had numerous recommendations, summarized below.

a. Support a better understanding of Malian civil society

Malian civil society needs further study into its origins, development, means, resources, strengths, level of organization, partnerships with the state and degree of involvement in policy and program processes (Int. 11C; 16C). Understanding coalitions – and their leadership problems – is essential to determining how to support civil society (Int. 11C; 16C). Regarding Malian civil society, donors also need to understand: the link between NGO creation and employment creation (Int. 16C; 20C; Tounkara, 2001); the difficulty for Southern civil society actors to volunteer their time, since they often do not have means of livelihood other than civil society activities (Int. 14C); and that *qualified* members of Malian civil society are vastly over-extended, playing multiple roles (Int. 40C).

b. Do not provide resources only to the government; reserve some for CSOs CSOs emphasized their need for continued access to resources. Some CSOs – mostly INGOs, national NGOs, coalitions and service-providers – expressed concern at the donor practice of providing resources only to the state (Int. 6C; 9C; 29C; 32C; 33C). They felt that a separate portion should be reserved for directly funding CSOs (Int. 29C; 32C). One CSO remarked that channeling all support to government limits CSOs' ability to influence the *kinds of participation opportunities* open to them: "civil society could initiate frameworks for reflection, evaluation of policies and evaluation of current education practices, but hasn't got the means to do so because of donors' policies. Because donors' aid is directed straight to the state, who coordinates the aid, more and more, donors don't fund civil society activities" (Int. 57C). Representatives from *all types of CSO* expressed a desire for greater transparency about donor resources going to the state and how they are used, as well as greater transparency within state ministries (Int. 5C; 22C; 33C). Some interest in budget tracking was also expressed (Int. 11C; 25C).

c. Support CSOs to better structure and organize amongst themselves

CSOs called for donors to help civil society structure and organize itself internally (10C; 11C; 40C). For example, one respondent suggested a consultation framework where different types of CSOs can develop proposal-making capacity and carry out research (Int. 57C). Another CSO asked for support to frameworks for direct school-level actors (teachers' unions, parents, students) (Int. 65C). There were also requests for more donor support to coalitions (Int. 8C; 9C; 10C; 11C) – and these requests did *not* only come from coalitions themselves. CSOs recognized how donors have provided good technical support to them (Int. 8C), and have helped NGOs become more professional, in the case of their support to *Groupe Pivot Education de Base*, for example (Int. 23C). As they said about government, however, CSOs felt that donors should more carefully evaluate both NGOs' and coalitions' capacity, level of representation and degree of alignment with PRODEC *before* funding them (6C; 11C; 14C; 31C).

d. Support capacity-building for CSOs

CSOs – NGOs and teachers' unions in particular – had numerous suggestions as to where they need capacity-building, including: policy design and analysis, macro-level advocacy and education quality (Int. 14C; 16C; 19C; 26C; 40C; 57C; 64C; 65C). There were also calls for support towards CSOs playing a greater role in monitoring PRODEC (Int. 44C), and for assistance developing their technical capacities (in girls' education, for example) (Int. 48C; 65C).

9. Analysis and Conclusions

Mali has rapidly introduced dramatic education sector reforms over the past 15 years. These include donor and NGO efforts to expand community schools in the mid to late 1990s, the widespread introduction of contract teachers in the early 1990s, and the 1999 launch of a tenyear education sector program, PRODEC (*Programme Décennal de Développement de l'Education*). The Malian government has also progressively devolved the governance of education to sub-national authorities.

Overall, these reforms have expanded policy space for civil society. However, they have had contrasting implications for different civil society organizations (CSOs), which in turn has exacerbated divisions within civil society. Two key constellations of CSO actors have thus emerged, each facing different pressures to change the terms of their engagement in the education sector.

The first constellation of CSOs consists of national and international NGOs, often involved in complimentary service-provision. For these actors, the move to a sector program has brought donor shifts towards budget support, decreased donor-NGO interaction and less direct funding for NGO activities. At the same time, NGOs acknowledge greater opportunities for partnership with government, but a lack of communication and mutual understanding has hindered their relationship. While NGOs are actively involved in supporting the implementation of decentralization reforms and the sector program (PRODEC) more generally, they are also concerned about donor conditionalities and a lack of government accountability. Consequently, they have a strong sense that it is important for them to be active participants in national-level policy processes, but coordinating and collaborating amongst themselves remains a challenge. In contrast to our three other case countries, within Mali, INGOs and national NGOs have thus far been unable to sustain into the 2000s an effective umbrella platform specifically for interfacing with central government and donors on educational issues – despite their successful collaboration within this type of platform, in the 1990s. This status quo is not helped by NGOs' dependence upon external funding (which is unpredictable), nor by national NGOs' dissatisfaction with the sub-contracting role they often play vis-à-vis international NGOs.

By contrast to NGOs, the second constellation of Malian CSOs in education has remained critical of PRODEC. Teachers' unions and representatives for parents disagree with aspects of the government's policies relating to education decentralization – a centerpiece of PRODEC. Historically, these organizations have wielded considerable influence, through the threat of national strikes, or by mobilizing their well-organized constituencies. Since they are already strong organizations internally, they are not as inclined as NGOs to rely upon donor funds. Although these actors felt that their interests were not listened to in the design process of PRODEC, they enjoy regular communication with the Malian government, who seeks to contain their opposition to PRODEC and to win them over to the larger reform program. At the same time, these CSOs acknowledge their need to work more effectively with other civil society actors, such as NGOs. They also agree with NGOs about some areas where civil society requires capacity building, such as policy analysis and advocacy. Meanwhile, representatives from both these constellations of CSOs call for greater transparency concerning the government's management of education sector resources.

There are some differences discernible in the views held by government, donors and CSOs about the degree to which CSOs should be participants in *national-level* policy processes and key decision-making spaces. With some exceptions, government policies and officials primarily seem to see CSOs playing roles at the *sub-national and school levels*, ensuring that school-level actors are well-trained, mobilized and resourced to keep the system running smoothly and government policy on course. CSO efforts to play a policy role at decentralized levels are just emerging and are only weakly-linked to national-level policy processes. Thus, decentralization of governance seems to confuse rather than enhance CSO policy leverage, at this point in time.

Although civil society actors played a part in the initial design of PRODEC in the late 1990s, their capacity to play a *coordinated* policy role at the *national level* needs to be strengthened. Many Malian CSOs in education feel that they have not yet built a robust civil society coalition for 'Education for All' (EfA) – although since 2005-2006, they have made progress in bringing together diverse CSOs towards this end. The tendency of CSOs has been instead to contend for

their specific interests and to bargain with government as individual organizations. Representatives from donors, government and even civil society feel that CSOs can only be effective at the national policy table once they organize more synergistically amongst themselves and demonstrate their ability to add value to policy dialogue. In our interviews, NGOs, teachers' unions, parents, students and other CSOs called for support to address these needs; some donors expressed their readiness to advocate for and support the development of a greater national policy voice for CSOs.

Working towards the goal of a more coordinated civil society at the national and sub-national levels – and reinforcing linkages between the two levels – will not be easy. It will require the building of bridges between two very different constellations of CSO actors, the establishment of a common platform, and building CSOs' capacities for advocacy, policy analysis and research. The recent interest Mali has shown in developing a plan to abolish schools fees may provide a new mobilizing frame for Malian civil society, in particular for the EfA coalition – as has been the case in Tanzania and Kenya. In addition, the promising example of recent CSO organizing around Mali's second PRSP, and of more-established EfA coalition-building in other countries, suggests that with support from government and the international community, a vital Malian coalition for civil society in education is achievable.

Bibliography

Aide et Action/Programme Mali. (2005a, March). Analyse pays. Bamako, Mali: author.

- Aide et Action/Programme Mali. (2005b, June). *Le plaidoyer en éducation au Mali et dans la sous-région*. Retrieved February 13, 2007, from http://doc-aea.datapps.com/pub_cgi/document_sho.pl?document_id=2182&lang=fr
- Aide et Action/Programme Mali. (2005c, September). *Les rôles et responsabilités des acteurs éducatifs au Mali.* Retrieved February 13, 2007, from http://doc-aea.datapps.com/data/admin/role_et_responsabilite_des_acteurs_2005.doc
- Bender, P., Diarra, A., Edoh, K., & Ziegler, M. (2007). Evaluation of the World Bank assistance to primary education in Mali: A country case study. The World Bank. Retrieved June 30, 2007, from http://lnweb18.worldbank.org/oed/oeddoclib.nsf/24cc3bb1f94ae11c85256808006a0046/fc86cd8d88b6f790 85257289007c4d87/\$FILE/mali_education.pdf
- Blair, H. (2000). Participation and accountability in the periphery: Democratic local governance in six countries [Electronic version]. *World Development*, 28(1), 21-39.
- Boukary, H. D. (1999). The village schools of Save the Children/USA in Mali: A case study of NGOs, communities and the state's emerging roles in the provision of basic education in the Sahel. (Doctoral dissertation, Indiana University, 1999). *Proquest Dissertations and Theses Full Text*, DAI-A 61/02, p. 559.
- Boukhari, S. (2000, January). Mali: A flickering flame. *UNESCO Courier*, pp. 26-28. Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://www.unesco.org/courier/2000_01/uk/dossier/txt06.htm
- Brenner, L. (2000). *Controlling knowledge: Religion, power and schooling in a West African Muslim society*. London: Hurst and Company.
- Capacci Carneal, C. (2004). Community schools in Mali: A multilevel analysis (Doctoral Dissertation, Florida State University, 2004). *Proquest Dissertations and Theses Full Text*, DAI-A 65/12, p. 4517.
- CIDA (Canadian International Development Agency). (n.d.). *Mali overview, Canada's commitment*. Retrieved January 24, 2006, from http://www.acdicida.gc.ca/CIDAWEB/webcountry.nsf/VLUDocEn/Mali-Overview
- CIDA (Canadian International Development Agency). (2000). *Mali policy framework 2000-2010*. Retrieved August 6, 2005, from http://www.acdi-cida.gc.ca/CIDAWEB/webcountry.nsf/vLUImages/Mali/\$file/Mali-framework-nopics.pdf
- Cissé, M., Diarra, A., Marchand, J., & Traoré, S. (2000). *Les écoles communautaires au Mali*. Paris: UNESCO/IIEP (Institut international de planification de l'éducation). Retrieved September 8, 2007, from UNESCO Web site: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0012/001224/122462f.pdf
- CLIC Mali (Centres Locaux d'Information et de Communication). (n.d.). *Le système éducatif du Mali*. Retrieved October 10, 2005, from http://www.clicmali.org/education/systedu.html
- Coulibaly, N. G. (2003, June). *Communication sur le sous-thème 'l'Alphabétisation au Mali:' Concept et évaluation*. Réseau Ouest et Centre Africain de Recherche en Education (ROCARE)/Mali. Paper presented at the 2ième Mandature du Conseil Economique, Social et Culturel de la République du Mali. Retrieved September 8, 2007, from ROCARE Web site: http://www.rocare.org/alpha8_cesmali.pdf

- Dante, I., Gautier, J.-F., Marouani, M. A., & Raffinot, M. (2001, August). Institutionalizing the PRSP approach in Mali. In PRSP Institutionalisation study: Final report (chap. 6). Retrieved September 8, 2007, from the Overseas Development Institute Web site: http://www.odi.org.uk/pppg/CAPE/publications/id_prsp_ch6.pdf
- De Bruijn, M., Sidibé, K., & Van Dijk, I. H. (2001). Evaluation des appuis des OCF néerlandaises à la construction de la société civile au Mali: Rapport de synthèse. Centre d'Etudes Africaines, Leiden, Netherlands and Koni Expertise, Bamako, Mali. Retrieved September 8, 2007, from www.mfpbreed.nl/cms/getfile.php?file=images/mali.pdf
- Dembélé, E., Touré Traoré, O., Diallo, A.A., & Sakho, S. (2002). Final report for the civil society study in Mali, Volume 1: Results analysis. Bamako, Mali: CERCA Mali, mimeo.
- DeStefano, J. (2004). *Mali case study: Community schools* (Draft). Washington, DC: EQUIP2 Project, Academy for Educational Development. Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://www.fasttrackinitiative.org/library/MaliCaseStudy.pdf
- Diakité, D. (2000) La crise scolaire au Mali [Electronic version]. *Nordic Journal of African Studies*, 9(3): 6-28.
- Dizolele, M. P. (2005, February). Democratic Mali and its struggling cotton farmers [Electronic version]. World and I, 20(2). General OneFile. Gale. University of Toronto. Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://find.galegroup.com.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/itx/start.do?prodId=ITOF>.
- Floridi, M. & Corella, B.S. (with Beridogo, B. & Diakité, L.). (2004). Mission d'identification des mesures d'accompagnement de la société civile au Mali (Projet 9 ACP MLI 01): Rapport Final. Rome, Italy: STEM-VCR Srl. Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://penserpouragir.org/IMG/pdf/Rapport_final_SC_pdf.pdf
- Gérard, E. (1997). La tentation du savoir en Afrique: Politiques, mythes et stratégies d'éducation au Mali. Paris: Editions Karthala.
- Glenzer, K. (2005). 'Politics is a thing that passes': A historical ethnography of power, development, and democracy in Mali's Pondori flood plain, c. 1818 – 2002 (Doctoral dissertation, Emory University, 2005). *Proquest Dissertations and Theses - Full Text*, DAI-A 66/05, p. 1834.
- Government of Mali. (2002, May). *Final Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper* (PRSP). Retrieved August 23, 2005, from http://povlibrary.worldbank.org/files/Mali_PRSP.pdf
- Marchand, J. (2000). *Les écoles communautaires: Mali, Sénégal, Togo*. Paris: UNESCO/IIEP (Institut international de planification de l'éducation). Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0012/001224/122461f.pdf
- MATCL (Ministère de l'Administration Territoriale et des Collectivités Locales, République du Mali). (2003, November). *Lois et décrets de la décentralisation* (5^{ième} édition).
- MEB/MESSRS (Ministère de l'Education de Base & Ministère des Enseignements Secondaire, Supérieur et de la Recherche Scientifique), République du Mali. (2000, January). *Programme Décennal de Développement de l'Education: Les grandes orientations de la politique éducative.* Retrieved September 9, 2007, from http://www.rocare.org/prodec_mali.PDF
- MEN (Ministère de l'Education Nationale), République du Mali. (2005, February). Guide pour l'élaboration des plans de développement éducatif des communes, des cercles et des régions.
- MEN (Ministère de l'Education Nationale), République du Mali. (2006a). Orientations politiques de la phase II, Mission d'évaluation à Ségou.

Cherry & Mundy, 10/25/07

- MEN (Ministère de l'Education Nationale), République du Mali. (2006b). Programme d'Investissement dans le Secteur de l'Education II, Mission conjointe du 6 au 17 mars 2006 au Mali, Aide-mémoire pour l'appui de la Banque Mondiale.
- MEN (Ministère de l'Education Nationale), République du Mali. (2006c). Programme d'Investissement pour le Secteur de l'Education, Descriptif de la seconde phase (2006-2008), Version finale.
- MEN CADDE (Ministère de l'Education Nationale, Cellule d'Appui à la Décentralisation, Déconcentration de l'éducation), République du Mali. (2003, July). *Résultats du forum national sur la gestion de l'école en mode décentralisé, 18-19 février 2003 Bamako*.
- MEN CADDE (Ministère de l'Education Nationale, Cellule d'Appui à la Décentralisation Déconcentration de l'éducation), République du Mali. (2005, October). *Résultats des travaux de l'atelier d'élaboration du cahier des charges*.
- MEN CNR-ENF (Ministère de l'Education Nationale, Centre National des Ressources de l'Education nonformelle), République du Mali. (2005, March). *Rapport Général du Séminaire National de Bilan Programmation sur l'Education Non Formelle, Bamako, 21-24 mars 2005.*
- MEN CNR-ENF (Ministère de l'Education Nationale, Centre National des Ressources de l'Education nonformelle), République du Mali. (2006, January). *Guide de formation du personnel des Académies d'Enseignement et des Centres d'Animation Pédagogique: Module 1, ENF.*
- ME Sec Gen (Ministère de l'Education, Secrétariat Général), République du Mali. (2001a, June). *Procéssus d'élaboration du PRODEC*.
- ME Sec Gen (Ministère de l'Education, Secrétariat Général), République du Mali. (2001b, May). *Rapport du Mali*. Paper presented at the Quarante-sixième session de la conférence internationale de l'éducation, Geneva, Switzerland, September 2001. Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://www.ibe.unesco.org/International/Ice/natrap/Mali.pdf
- MEN Sec Gen (Ministère de l'Education Nationale, Secrétariat Général), République du Mali. (2004a). Arrêté No40469/MEN-SG portant création, organisation et modalités de fonctionnement du comité de gestion scolaire. Bamako, Mali: author.
- MEN Sec Gen (Ministère de l'Education Nationale, Secrétariat Général), République du Mali. (2004b, July). *Rapport du Mali*. Paper presented at the Quarante-septième session de la conférence internationale de l'éducation, Geneva, Switzerland, September 2004. Retrieved October 3, 2005, from http://www.ibe.unesco.org/International/ICE47/English/Natreps/reports/mali.pdf
- MEN Sec Gen (Ministère de l'Education Nationale, Secrétariat Général), République du Mali. (2006a). Aide-Mémoire de la Mission Conjointe d'Evaluation de la deuxième phase du Programme d'Investissement dans le Secteur de l'Education (PISE), Ségou et Bamako, 6 – 19 mars 2006. Bamako, Mali: author.
- MEN Sec Gen (Ministère de l'Education Nationale, Secrétariat Général), République du Mali. (2006b). *Cadre de dépenses à moyen terme du secteur de l'éducation, 2006-2008.* Bamako, Mali: author.
- MEN Sec Gen (Ministère de l'Education Nationale, Secrétariat Général), République du Mali. (2006c). *La lettre de politique éducative du Mali.* Bamako, Mali: author.
- Miller-Grandvaux, Y., Welmond, M., & Wolf, J. (2002). Evolving partnerships: the role of NGOs in basic education in Africa. United States Agency for International Development (USAID). Retrieved September 8, 2007, from the Academy for Educational Development Web site: http://www.aed.org/ToolsandPublications/upload/EvolvingPartnerships.pdf

- Miller-Grandvaux, Y., & Yoder, K. (2002, February). A literature review of community schools in Africa. United States Agency for International Development (USAID), Support for Analysis and Research in Africa (SARA) Project. Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://www.aed.org/ToolsandPublications/upload/CommunitySchoolsLiteratureReview.pdf
- OECD (Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development). (2004). Mali. In *African economic outlook* 2004-2005. Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/42/55/34871934.pdf
- OECD (Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development). (2006). Mali. In *African economic outlook* 2005-2006. Retrieved March 26, 2007, from: http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/34/23/36741457.pdf
- Ongoïba, M. (2005). *Rapport d'étude: Impact de la qualification des enseignants sur la qualité de l'éducation.* Bamako, Mali: Syndicat National de l'Education et de la Culture (SNEC).
- Oumar Fomba, C., Tounkara, B. & Gilbert, L. (1999). Synthèse de quelques études et travaux de recherche portant sur la participation des communautés dans la gestion et le développement des écoles en république du Mali. Bamako, Mali: Réseau Ouest et Centre Africain de Recherche en Education (ROCARE). Retrieved November 16, 2006, from http://www.rocare.org/synthese_participation_communautaire.pdf
- Présidence de la République du Mali. (1999). Loi No 99 046/ du 28 décembre 1999 portant Loi d'Orientation sur l'Education. Bamako, Mali: author.

Pringle, R. (2006). Mali's unlikely democracy [Electronic version]. The Wilson Quarterly, 30(2), 31-39.

- Public World. (2004). *Delivering good quality public services: Health and education* [Report]. Oxford, England: Oxfam GB.
- Raffinot, M., Muguet, J., & Alhousseynou, T. (2003, April). Results-oriented public expenditure: Case-study of Mali (Working Paper 206). London, England: Overseas Development Institute. Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://www.odi.org.uk/publications/working_papers/wp206_web.pdf
- République du Mali. (1992). Décret No. 92-073 /P-CTSP Portant promulgation de la constitution. In *Lois et décrets de la décentralization* (5^{ième} édition). Bamako, Mali: Ministère de l'Administration Territoriale et des Collectivités Locales (2003).
- République Française, Commission des Recours des Réfugiés. (2003). L'association des élèves et étudiants du Mali (AEEM). Retrieved March 30, 2007, from http://www.commissionrefugies.fr/IMG/pdf/Mali_-_l_association_des_eleves_et_etudiants_AEEM_.pdf
- Sandbrook, R. (1996). Transitions without consolidation: democratization in six African Cases [Electronic version]. *Third World Quarterly*, *17*(1), 69-87.
- Sangaré, S., & Oumar Fomba, C. (2001, January). Recherche opérationnelle sur la coopération en éducation de base dans cinq pays d'Afrique de l'Ouest francophone: La contribution des communautés à la prise en charge de l'école, Le cas du Mali. Réseau Ouest et Centre Africain de Recherche en Education (ROCARE)/Mali and Fondation Paul Gérin-Lajoie. Retrieved September 7, 2007, from http://www.rocare.org/publications_rocaremali.htm
- Seely, J. C. (2001). A political analysis of decentralisation: coopting the Tuareg threat in Mali [Electronic version]. *Journal of Modern African Studies*, *39*(3), 499-524.
- SFAI (School Fee Abolition Initiative). (2007, June). Concept note. Background document for The International Conference on School Fee Abolition: Planning for Quality and Financial Sustainability, Bamako, Mali. Retrieved June 30, 2007, from the Association for Development of Education in Africa Web site:

http://www.adeanet.org/downloadcenter/SFAI06-07/1.SFAI%20Mali%20Concept%20Note%20en-19-06.pdf

- Smith, Z. K. (2001). Mali's decade of democracy [Electronic version]. Journal of Democracy, 12(3), 73-79.
- Tounkara, B. (2001, December). *Le rôle des ONG dans l'éducation de base au Mali*. USAID and ROCARE (Réseau Ouest et Centre Africain de Recherche en Education). Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://pdf.dec.org/pdf_docs/PNACP052.pdf
- Tounkara, B. (2005). L'expérience de la collaboration entre les chercheurs du ROCARE et le Ministère de l'Éducation de Base pour la réforme éducative au Mali. Paper presented at the Atelier de réflexion et d'échanges sur la synergie entre chercheurs et décideurs dans le monde de l'éducation au Burkina Faso, Ouagadougou, January 2005. Retrieved October 3, 2005, from http://www.idrc.ca/uploads/user-S/11157235191ReformeEducMali-BrehimaTounkara.pdf
- Tounkara, B., Oumar Fomba, C., & Fané, D. (2001). Évaluation de la qualité de l'éducation dans les écoles communautaires gérées par Africare et ONG partenaires. Bamako, Mali: Réseau Ouest et Centre Africain de Recherche en Education (ROCARE). Retrieved November 16, 2005, from http://www.rocare.org/ecolecommunautaire_africare.pdf
- Tounkara, B., Oumar Fomba, C., & Tangara, D. (2000). Évaluation de la qualité de l'éducation dans les écoles communautaires gérées par World Education et ONG partenaires. Bamako, Mali: Réseau Ouest et Centre Africain de Recherche en Education (ROCARE). Retrieved November 16, 2005, from http://www.rocare.org/ecolecommunautaire_worldeducation.pdf
- UNAIDS (2006). Annex 1: Country Profiles. In *Reports on the global Aids epidemic 2006*. Retrieved March 31, 2007, from: http://data.unaids.org/pub/GlobalReport/2006/2006_GR_ANN1M-Q_en.pdf
- UNDP (United Nations Development Program). (2006). *Beyond scarcity: power, poverty and the global water crisis*. Retrieved March 31, 2007, from http://hdr.undp.org/hdr2006/statistics/countries/data_sheets/cty_ds_MLI.html
- USAID (United States Agency for International Development). (2002). *Country strategic plan, FY 2003-2012: Reducing poverty and accelerating economic growth through partnerships*. Retrieved October 3, 2005, from http://pdf.dec.org/pdf_docs/PDABX109.pdf
- USAID/Mali (United States Agency for International Development/Mali). (2005). Annual report, FY 2005. Retrieved November 25th, 2006 from http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PDACD870.pdf
- van den Walle, N. (2003). Presidentialism and clientelism in Africa's emerging party systems [Electronic version]. *Journal of Modern African Studies*, *41*(2), 297-321.
- Wing, S. D. (2002). Questioning the state: Constitutionalism and the Malian espace d'interpellation democratique [Electronic version]. *Democratization*, 9(2), 121-147.
- World Bank, Country Department for Mali (2003). Country assistance strategy for the Republic of Mali (Report 25663). Retrieved October 27, 2005, from the World Bank Web site: http://www-wds.worldbank.org/servlet/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2003/07/23/000160016_20030723094726/Rend ered/PDF/256630MLI0CAS.pd
- World Bank, Fast Track Initiative [FTI]. (n.d.). *Country database*. Retrieved January 24, 2006, from http://www.fasttrackinitiative.org/education/efafti/documents/Countrystatustable_oct05.xls

World Bank. (2006). Project appraisal document on a proposed credit in the amount of SDR 24 Million (US\$35

million equivalent) to the Republic of Mali for a second education sector investment program. Retrieved May 6, 2007, from the World Bank Web site: http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2006/06/29/000160016_200606290958 51/Rendered/PDF/36189.pdf

The World Bank Group, Independent Evaluation Group. (2006). *From schooling access to learning outcomes: An unfinished agenda, An evaluation of World Bank support to primary education.* Retrieved September 8, 2007, from

http://lnweb18.worldbank.org/oed/oeddoclib.nsf/DocUNIDViewForJavaSearch/DB332E8D5FF2968E852571A800797D10/\$file/primary_education_evaluation.pdf

- World Bank/IDA (International Development Association). (2007). Première mission conjointe de suivi de la deuxième phase du Programme d'Investissement dans le Secteur de l'Education (PISE II) du 9 au 26 février 2007, Aide-mémoire. Bamako, Mali: author.
- Ziegler, M., Touré, A., Tangara, M. & Coulibaly, M.. (2004). Etat de la Mise en Oeuvre de la Décentralisation et de la Planification de l'Education, notamment au niveau des Collectivités Territoriales. Bamako, Mali : Ministère de l'Education Nationale du Mali & UNICEF.